

Foodborne Parasites

A Review of the Scientific Literature Review

M. Ellin Doyle

Food Research Institute University of Wisconsin–Madison Madison WI 53706

Contents

Parasites — What are they?
What foods have the potential for carrying parasites?2
How much of a problem are parasites?
How can parasites be controlled?
Sanitation and hygiene4
Animal husbandry and inspection
Marination, pickling, smoking, fermentation5
Cooking and heat treatment5
Freezing
Filtration and chlorination and other disinfectants6
Other physical processes6
Life cycle targets6
Life cycles of parasites
Direct reinfection7
Completion of life cycle in one host7
One intermediate host7
Two intermediate hosts7
Protozoan parasites
Toxoplasma
Cryptosporidium9
Cyclospora10
Entamoeba
Giardia11
Parasitic worms — Nematodes
Anisakis and Pseudoterranova (sealworm, codworm)12
Ascaris
Angiostrongylus cantonensis and A. costaricensis (rat lungworm)
Gnathostoma sp
Trichinella spiralis (trichinosis)
Parasitic worms — Trematodes
Clonorchis/Opisthorchis (liver flukes)14
Fasciola hepatica (liver fluke)14
Fasciolopsis buski (fasciolopsiasis, intestinal fluke)15
Paragonimus (lung fluke)15
Parasitic worms — Cestodes
<i>Taenia</i> spp
Diphyllobothrium spp. (fish tapeworm)16
Echinococcus spp16
Summary
References
Appendix — FRI Briefing, November 1996: Cryptospordium and Cyclospora following page 28

Parasites — What are they?

The word "parasites" conjures up images of grosslooking tapeworms, roundworms, and fleas, or of blood-borne diseases such as malaria and schistosomiasis. Many have been considered problems confined to tropical countries and places with poor sanitation and therefore of little concern to the U.S. However, recent outbreaks of parasitic diseases have demonstrated the inaccuracy of these assumptions. Not all parasites live only in the tropics [as witness the Milwaukee Cryptosporidium outbreak (179)], and consumers in the U.S. can be exposed to parasites that originate in the tropics because of increasing international travel [Angiostrongylus in tourists returning from Jamaica (252)] and globalization of food markets [Cyclospora on raspberries from Guatemala (128)]. Finally, some of the most important parasites are neither tapeworms, insects, nor blood-borne.

Parasites are organisms that obtain their food from other living creatures. A "good" or well-adapted parasite does not kill its host because it depends on the host for a steady supply of food over a long period of time. Usually parasites are smaller than their food source and this distinguishes them from predators such as tigers, which also eat other living things. Some parasites live in only one species of animal but many parasites, particularly the worms, spend part of their lives reproducing sexually in a final or definitive host and developing asexually as larvae during another part of their life in an intermediate host of a different species. Different life cycles will be described in a later section.

It has been estimated that humans harbor about 300 species of parasitic worms and over 70 species of protozoa (27;51;212). Many of these have coexisted with us for thousands of years and have been identified among human remains by archaeologists (62;104;116;123;173;213;231). We may have inherited some parasites from our primate ancestors, while others were acquired from companion and food animals. Not all parasites are foodborne and some are very rare.

This review will summarize information on the more common foodborne parasites, including three types of worms and several protozoa. The worms include tapeworms (cestodes), flukes (trematodes) and roundworms (nematodes). Protozoa are one-celled organisms but are larger and more complex than bacteria. These parasites are generally not susceptible to antibiotics that kill bacteria but there are effective drugs to treat some (not all) parasitic infections.

What foods have the potential for carrying parasites?

Parasites of concern to food safety professionals include several worms, ranging from a few centimeters to several meters in length, and protozoa, single celled organisms (202;212) (Table 1). Many parasitic infections are asymptomatic, others cause acute short-lived effects, and still others may persist in the body causing chronic effects (195).

Protozoa

Protozoan parasites may be present in freshwater sources that have been contaminated with human or animal feces; fruits and vegetables grown or washed with such contaminated water may have parasites on their surface and be sources of infection. *Toxoplasma* is sometimes present in raw meat, particularly pork, and thorough cooking is needed to destroy it. Some protozoa are very species specific and can survive in only one species of animal, but others, including many human pathogens, can live in humans and in other animals and these animals may act as reservoirs continually shedding parasites into the environment. Protozoan parasites have a resistant resting stage (cyst or oocyst) which can withstand some drying and disinfectants.

Foodborne parasitic worms

<u>Cestodes (tapeworms)</u>: Meat and fish may contain larval tapeworms that can develop into adults in the human intestine. The pork and beef tapeworms are the best known (*Taenia solium* and *T. saginata*, respectively) but there are also other species with larval stages in fish muscles. Tapeworm eggs may be present on fruits or vegetables fertilized with human wastes or washed with contaminated water. If humans consume the eggs of *T. solium*, the larvae hatching from the eggs burrow out of the intestine and travel to the muscles, brain, and other parts of the body where they encyst and may cause serious problems. <u>Nematodes (round worms)</u> include the following human parasites: *Trichinella, Ascaris*, and *Anisakis*, *Angiostrongylus* and *Gnathostoma*. Some nematodes, such as *Ascaris*, have a simple life cycle that does not require an intermediate host but may be passed from one human to another by fecally contaminated water or vegetables. Others, including *Trichinella*, *Gnathostoma*, and *Anisakis*, exist as cysts in muscles of meat or fish and may (*Trichinella*) or may not (*Anisakis* and *Gnathostoma*) develop into adults in humans who consume infected meat. *Angiostrongylus* utilizes two intermediate hosts and may be present in snails and on leafy vegetables.

<u>Trematodes (flatworms or flukes)</u> usually have two or more intermediate hosts. Some may be present on aquatic vegetables or foods washed in contaminated water (*Fasciola* and *Fasciolopsis*) while others encyst in fish (*Clonorchis*) or crabs and wild boar (*Paragonimus*).

How much of a problem are parasites?

Worldwide, parasites infect millions of people (Table 2.) In some underdeveloped regions, they are a major cause of childhood diarrhea and stunting of growth and cause significant economic losses related to human health and to agriculture (72;111; 233).

In the U.S. the number of people affected by parasites is proportionally much smaller than in underdeveloped parts of the world, and viruses and bacteria are more frequent causes of foodborne illness in the U.S. However, parasites are becoming more of a concern for the following reasons:

- Increasing imports of fruits, vegetables, and ethnic foods, some of which originate in countries without modern sanitary facilities and inspection systems, may introduce parasites.

Foods	Protozoa	Nematodes	Tapeworms	Flukes
Beef			Taenia saginata	
Pork	Toxoplasma	Trichinella	Taenia solium, Taenia asiatica	
Other meat	Toxoplasma, Cryptosporidium (lamb, mutton)	<i>Trichinella</i> (cougar, walrus, bear, horse, wild boar) <i>Gnathostoma</i> (frogs, snakes)		Paragonimus (wild boar, guinea pig)
Milk	Cryptosporidium			
Fish		Anisakis, Gnathostoma	Diphyllobothrium	Clonorchis
Crabs, shrimp		Gnathostoma		Paragonimus
Clams, mussels, oysters	Cryptosporidium, Toxoplasma			
Snails, slugs		Angiostrongylus		
Squid		Anisakis		
Fruits, vegetables (raw)	Cyclospora, Cryptosporidium, Giardia	Angiostrongylus, Ascaris	Taenia solium, Echinococcus	Fasciola, Fasciolopsis
Water	Cyclospora, Cryptosporidium, Giardia, Toxoplasma	Ascaris, Gnathostoma?	Echinococcus	Fasciola, Fasciolopsis

Table 1. Parasites found in different foods.

Parasite	U.S. (reference)	World (reference)
Anisakis simplex	~50 (13)	~2000 (13)
Ascaris lumbricoides		1,472,000,000 (53)
Clonorchis sinensis		7,000,000 (WHO web site; 277)
Cryptosporidium parvum	3000,000 (186)	
Cyclospora cayetenensis	16,264 (186)	
Entamoeba histolytica		48,000,000 (WHO web site)
Fasciola hepatica		2,4000,000 (WHO web site)
Giardia lamblia	2,500,000 (38)	
Opisthorchis spp.		18,500,000 (WHO web site; 277)
Paragonimus		>20,000,000 (WHO web site)
Taenia spp.	>1000 neurocysticercosis/yr (31)	50,000,000 (134)
Toxoplasma gondii	225,000 (186)	500,000,000 (180)
Trematodes		>40,000,000 (WHO web site; 1)
Trichinella spiralis	52 (186)	

Table 2. Estimated cases of food- and waterborne parasitic diseases.

- Immigrants from under-developed countries may be infected with parasites that could be transmissible to others, particularly during food preparation.
- The popularity of raw or lightly cooked foods, such as sushi and raw pork sausages, may increase exposure to parasites.
- As our population ages and more people have deficient immune systems, parasitic infections may have more severe consequences, as demonstrated in *Cryptosporidium* outbreaks (*101;137*).
- Although parasitic infections may not be very frequent in the U.S., some parasites can cause severe chronic effects such as neurological problems caused by the pork tapeworm (neuro-cysticercosis) and by *Toxoplasma* and liver cancer associated with *Clonorchis* (138;159;277).
- An interesting issue being considered by some parasitologists is the potential spread of parasitic diseases as global warming proceeds. Some diseases are presently confined to tropical and subtropical areas because cysts or intermediate hosts are not cold hardy. But if lake temperatures warm up and winter temperatures moderate, some diseases may encroach on temperate areas (7).

How can parasites be controlled?

Some basic strategies such as sanitation and proper cooking of foods are useful in combating all parasites. Other approaches may be useful for some parasites but not for others. Below is a brief summary of methods which have been investigated, and Table 3 lists references which describe published research investigating the efficacy of different methods as applied to different groups of parasites.

Sanitation and Hygiene

- Proper disposal of human and animal wastes to prevent contamination of foods and drinking water sources is an excellent and basic strategy for preventing many parasitic infections that are transmitted by the fecal–oral route. However, in many developing countries these wastes serve as fertilizer for crops. Composting of this material could kill parasite eggs.
- Control of flies, cockroaches, and other insects may prevent dispersal of infective stages of parasites to foods.
- Thorough washing of raw vegetables and fruits may remove cysts, oocysts, and eggs of parasites, but it is difficult to adequately clean some leafy vegetables and berries.

- Frequent handwashing, use of clean utensils, and measures to prevent cross-contamination during food processing are also important.

Animal Husbandry and Inspection

- Husbandry practices that limit exposure of pigs to contaminated feed and feces have been successful in developed countries in drastically reducing human infections with *Trichinella* and pork tapeworms.
- Rodent control is also important to prevent pigs from consuming rodents carrying parasites.
- Infected animals may be treated with drugs to kill parasites, and vaccines are being developed to prevent infections with certain parasites.
- Inspection systems can detect parasites in pork, beef, and fish. These systems ensure that nearly all meat reaching consumers in the U.S. is free of parasites.

Marination, Pickling, Smoking, Fermentation

- Hot smoking processes kill *Anisakis*, but these parasites do survive cold smoking.
- Marination of herring in 2.6% acetic acid and 8-9% salt kills *Anisakis* after 6 weeks, but 12 weeks are required if the salt concentration is 5-6%.
- Traditional Mexican methods of salt pickling of pork kill tapeworm larvae (cysticerci).
- Fermentation of meat to produce dry sausages and ham inactivates both protozoa and larvae of parasitic worms. Low pH and low water activity combine to kill parasites so that less acidic products may require an $a_w < 0.9$ to be safe.

Cooking and Heat Treatment

All infective stages of parasites are destroyed by adequate cooking of foods and boiling of water. However, microwave cooking does not reliably kill

	Protozoa	Trematodes	Nematodes	Cestodes
Sanitation, hygiene	(180)	(1)	(10)	(105;266)
Animal husbandry	(23;61;81;183;275)	(1)	(41;180)	(69;84;105;144;193; 265;266)
Vaccination, medication	(21;183;190)			(<i>84;105;126;142;</i> 146; 166;218;244;247;269)
Heat, cooking	(14;60;91;121;143; 177;272;273)	(1)	(41;175)	(175;236)
Freezing, refrigeration	(78;150;160;169; 175; 177)	(1;73)	(13;41;131;175; 184;279)	(74)
Chlorination, disinfectants	(<i>14</i> ; <i>45</i> ; <i>48</i> ; <i>49</i> ;76; 128;145;151;229;268; 271;278)	(124)	(208;283)	
Irradiation	(67;164;175;282)	(1;42;175;254–256)	(175;211;214)	(4;56;97;175)
UV light	(30;118;125;167; 194;240)		(43)	
Ozone	(49;113;153;240; 271;280)			
Pressure	(251)		(92;191)	
Ultrasound	(11)			
Marination, pickling, smoking, fermentation	(85;175;177;276)	(1;75;175)	(95;149;175;283)	(175;236)

Table 3. References on Control of Parasites

all parasites in meat and fish because heating is uneven and cooler spots may permit survival. Consumers are advised to cook pork and any wild game that may be infected with trichinae to an internal temperature of 160°F (71°C). Cooking fish for 10 min at 60°C or 7 min at 70°C will kill *Anisakis* (13;279).

Freezing

For food to be eaten raw, such as fish and some meats, freezing for several days can inactivate or kill some parasites.

- Fish should be frozen at -30°C for ≥15 hours in a commercial blast freezer or at -20°C for ≥7 days in a domestic freezer to kill *Anisakis* (184). Some other parasitic worms require longer or shorter periods at freezing temperatures.
- Freezing meat at 5°F (-17° C) for 20 days, -10° F (-23.3° C) for 10 days or -20° F (-29° C) for 6 days destroys trichinae in pork (41;175), but this may not be adequate for trichinae in wild game. Infective trichinae have been found in polar bear and grizzly bear meat frozen for 24 months (41;131).

Filtration and Chlorination and Other Disinfectants

- Filtration systems can remove protozoan cysts and oocysts from water. However, several outbreaks of cryptosporidiosis associated with surface water that had been filtered indicate that these systems are not always effective.
- Chlorination eliminates bacteria and some parasites from water, but cysts and oocysts are resistant to chlorine.
- Soaking of vegetables in a 1.5% bleach solution, vinegar, potassium permanganate solution (24 mg/L), or saturated cooking salt destroyed infective larvae of some nematode and trematode parasites. However, viable trematodes were detected in fish stored for a week in salt (3 g salt/10 g fish) at 26°C.
- A 10% solution of ammonium hydroxide killed 94% of *Ascaris* eggs after 3 hours but other disinfectants were less effective.

Other Physical Processes

- Irradiation can destroy parasites on some raw foods. Lower doses of irradiation (0.5–0.7 kGy) damage larvae and inhibit infectivity, but larger

doses (6–7 kGy) are required to kill all the trichinae in meat. Irradiation doses of 0.1–0.15 kGy have been reported to kill trematode cysts in fish. However, doses of 5 kGy may be necessary to completely inactivate protozoan oocysts (282).

- High hydrostatic pressure has been reported to be a potentially useful non-thermal method for killing *Anisakis*.
- Ultraviolet light can disinfect water containing *Giardia* cysts.
- Ozone kills protozoan parasites in water.
- Ultrasound treatment inactivates *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in water.

Life Cycle Targets

Another approach to the control of parasites involves an examination the life cycles of parasites to find weak links where the cycles may be broken. For example, persons carrying adult tapeworms can be treated with anthelminthic drugs to eliminate adult worms that are producing eggs and thereby reduce the incidence of cysticercosis.

Parasites spend some time in the environment as cysts or eggs but these are resistant to desiccation and other stresses. *Fasciola* cysts, for example, can survive in running water for as long as 122 days and in pasture for up to a year, and *Giardia* cysts can survive for months in cold water.

Many parasites live in one or more animals during different stages of their life cycle, and control of these animals could potentially reduce parasite numbers. However, it is impossible to completely control populations of wild animals and it is not practical to attempt to eliminate some intermediate hosts such as snails and small crustaceans from every water source. Some parasites can complete their life cycles in other animals, including domestic and wild carnivores and omnivores. For example, wolves, bears, and other fish-eating mammals and birds can also serve as definitive hosts for the fish tapeworm, Diphyllobothrium, and there are reports that dogs (141) and bear (260) can serve as intermediate hosts for the pork tapeworm, Taenia solium. Beavers and other wild and domestic animals can harbor protozoa infective to humans. These animals act as reservoirs of infection and therefore proper treatment of human wastes may not completely eliminate the threat of these parasites.

Life Cycles of Parasites

Parasitic worms usually have distinct larval and adult stages which often live in different species of animals. Animals that harbor the mature adult worms are called **definitive hosts**: animals that harbor the immature. larval forms are intermediate hosts. Parasites may be present in other animals (transport hosts) but not undergo any growth or development in them. Some parasites have a complex life cycle involving several host animals. In other cases, an animal or human with poor sanitary habits may directly reinfect themselves. Most parasites have a resistant, resting stage (egg or cyst) which can survive for long periods in the environment and may survive sanitizing treatments. Larval worms, embedded in meat, fish, or shellfish, are moderately thermotolerant and may not be killed by light cooking.

Cells of parasitic protozoa vary somewhat at different stages of their life cycle. However, many do not have different definitive and intermediate hosts.

Direct reinfection

Parasite in intestine \rightarrow eggs or cysts in feces \rightarrow ingestion of eggs/cysts on contaminated hands, water, fresh fruit or vegetables

- Examples: Ascaris, Cryptosporidium, Cyclospora, Giardia, Entamoeba

Completion of life cycle in one host

Consumed as encysted larvae in infected meat, these parasites mature in the human GI tract, produce larvae which migrate to the muscles, and encyst. The encysted larvae can only mature when the muscles are consumed by another host animal.

- Example: Trichinella

One intermediate host

Snail/slug as only intermediate host

Parasite in human intestine or lung \rightarrow eggs expelled in feces or sputum \rightarrow eggs hatch into miricidia (larvae) in water \rightarrow miricidia penetrate snails and undergo development:

(1) \rightarrow larvae emerge from snails and encyst in water or on aquatic plants \rightarrow humans consume contaminated water or plants

- Examples: Fasciolopsis, Fasciola

(2) \rightarrow humans consume raw or lightly cooked snails or slugs containing larvae

- Example: Angiostrongylus

Shellfish as host

Parasite in human intestine \rightarrow cysts in feces deposited or washed into water \rightarrow cysts taken up by clams, mussels, oysters, etc. \rightarrow humans consume raw or lightly cooked, contaminated shellfish

- Example: Cryptosporidium

Mammal as only intermediate host

Parasite in human intestine \rightarrow eggs or cysts in feces deposited in environment \rightarrow eggs or cysts consumed by pigs or cattle \rightarrow larvae or protozoa migrate to muscles \rightarrow humans consume infected meat

- Examples: Taenia spp., Toxoplasma

Two intermediate hosts

Snails, crustaceans and fish as intermediate hosts

Parasite in human intestine or lung \rightarrow eggs released in feces or sputum \rightarrow eggs hatch into miricidia (larvae) in water \rightarrow miricidia penetrate snails and undergo development \rightarrow larvae emerge from snail and penetrate crustacean (crab, shrimp, or crayfish) or fish \rightarrow humans consume raw or lightly cooked fish or crustacean

- Examples: Paragonimus, Gnathostoma, Clonorchis/Opisthorchis

Mammals as intermediate hosts

Parasite in human or animal intestine \rightarrow cysts in feces deposited in environment \rightarrow cysts consumed by pigs or other animals \rightarrow infected meat (e.g. pork) consumed by cats \rightarrow oocysts in cat feces \rightarrow oocysts inhaled or ingested by humans

- Example: Toxoplasma

Protozoan Parasites

Intestinal protozoan parasites in humans typically cause mild to moderate diarrhea although malnourished children, the elderly, and the immunocompromised may suffer prolonged and intense gastrointestinal symptoms that can be life threatening. Some protozoa can penetrate the intestinal wall and cause symptoms elsewhere in the body. Some infections are asymptomatic. Thick-walled cysts or oocysts are passed in the feces and may be shed for weeks after symptoms have subsided. Many protozoa can live and reproduce in more than one animal species but they do not grow or reproduce in foods or in the environment. Five of the most common parasites will be considered here.

- Cryptosporidium parvum, Cyclospora cayetenensis, and Toxoplasma gondii belong to the Sporozoa group. They have no specialized structures for locomotion and reproduce by both sexual and asexual multiplication. Cryptosporidium and Cyclospora are coccidian parasites that multiply both sexually and asexually within the human intestine. Following sexual reproduction, they produce oocysts that are passed with the feces and, when ingested by another human or animal, start another round of infection. The sexual cycle of Toxoplasma is confined to cats, which eliminate oocysts in their feces. In other animals, including humans, the ingested or inhaled oocysts excyst in the small intestine and the resulting cells penetrate the intestinal wall and disperse through the body. They may have severe effects on newborn offspring of infected mothers. These cells may also encyst in the muscles, heart, brain or other tissues and survive there for years. These encysted forms are also infective to other animals that consume meat containing them.
- *Entamoeba histolytica* moves by means of cytoplasmic extensions or pseudopods and reproduces asexually. Ingested cysts release trophozoites in the intestine. These cells may irritate the intestinal lining, causing bloody diarrhea, and in some cases they migrate to the liver or brain, causing abscesses (*120*). Humans appear to be the main host for this species.
- *Giardia lamblia* has long flagella for locomotion and reproduces asexually. When infective cysts are ingested in contaminated food or water, active trophozoites are released, attach to the intestinal wall and reproduce. As few as 10 cysts may be sufficient to cause prolonged diarrhea (201). Many wild and domestic animals also harbor *Giardia*. Some isolates from animals (livestock, dogs, cats, beavers, rats) are infective to humans while other strains appear to infect only animals (*162*).

Toxoplasma

Toxoplasma gondii may be the most widespread of the human protozoan parasites, with up to 40% of persons in developed countries and up to 80% of those in underdeveloped areas of Central and South America estimated to be infected (130). In places such as France where it is customary to eat some raw or lightly cooked meat, there is a higher incidence of infection. One survey found that 84% of pregnant women in Paris had been exposed to T. gondii before becoming pregnant as compared to 32% of pregnant women in New York. In most cases, infections are asymptomatic but consequences can be devastating for the immunocompromised and for the unborn children of women who become infected during pregnancy (253). While a pregnant woman rarely notices that she has become infected, Toxoplasma can cross the placenta and infect the fetus. The most common effect of such infection in children is diminished vision or blindness after birth; more severe effects include hydrocephalus, convulsions, and calcium deposits in the brain. Toxoplasmosis is responsible for the deaths of 10-30% of AIDS patients in Europe and the United States and causes encephalitis in many immunosuppressed patients (130). Immunocompetent adults may also suffer symptoms of retinitis and enlarged lymph nodes after exposure to infected meat or water (26;44).

Two reviews describe the variety of effects *T. gondii* has on human health (22;253). There is not a lot of genetic diversity in *T. gondii* but three main lineages have been identified. Current research is seeking to delineate virulence factors and to determine whether some strains are more virulent than others or are more often associated with specific symptoms (2;16;25;32;65).

T. gondii can infect virtually all warm-blooded animals, but only cats (both wild and domestic) serve as the definitive host and can excrete up to 800 million infective oocysts in their feces (64). A recent survey of cats at spay/neuter clinics in Ohio revealed that 48% of all cats were infected with *T. gondii*, with a higher incidence in outdoor cats (66). These oocysts can survive for long periods in the environment and may be spread by the wind or by a variety of insects and earthworms and contaminate foods ingested by humans and other animals. *Toxoplasma* cysts that apparently washed into a reservoir in British Columbia after heavy rains caused the largest reported outbreak of waterborne toxoplasmosis in 1994–1995 (26). At least 100 people had acute symptoms and twenty of those suffered retinitis of varying degrees of severity (28). It was estimated that several thousand people in the city of Victoria became infected during this outbreak but most were asymptomatic. Domestic and feral house cats and cougars in the area tested positive for toxoplasmosis. At the time, the reservoir water was treated with chloramination but was not filtered.

In animals other than cats, Toxoplasma cells migrate out of the intestine and encyst in muscle tissue. These muscle cysts may persist for the life of the animal and are also a source of infection ----whether it be cysts in muscles of mice and wild birds that infect house cats or cysts in pork or mutton that infect humans. Pork has been considered the main vehicle for exposure of humans to T. gondii. Seroprevalence rates among pigs, particularly young animals, appear to have fallen during the past few decades (176) but some surveys still show a high prevalence of T. gondii infection in market-weight pigs (64). Some recent surveys of meat from grocery stores have demonstrated the presence of Toxoplasma in a greater proportion of lamb samples than in pork (12). Toxoplasma cysts are also found in meat of rabbits and some other domesticated animals but are rarely observed in beef or horse meat. Cysts in raw goat's milk have caused human infections but bovine milk does not appear to be a vehicle of infection.

Surveys of wild animals suggest that up to 80% of black bear and white-tailed deer in the U.S. contain *T. gondii* cysts in their muscles (*130*). Marine mammals also harbor *Toxoplasma*, and one possible source of infection in the marine environment includes shellfish which can filter oocysts from sea water. Raw, contaminated oysters could also cause human infections (*170*).

T. gondii cysts in meat can remain viable for weeks at refrigeration temperatures $(1-4^{\circ}C)$ but can be destroyed by freezing at $<-12^{\circ}C$, heat $>67^{\circ}C$, and irradiation (*169*; Table 3) But oocysts spread in the environment by cats may be more difficult to control as they can be a source of infection to cat owners who permit their cats to roam outside and oocysts can adhere to berries and vegetables that are eaten raw (*158*).

Cryptosporidium

During the past decade, numerous outbreaks of cryptosporidiosis have been described. Details on several of these outbreaks are provided in Table 4. Perhaps the most infamous outbreak occurred in Milwaukee in 1993, where over 400,000 people suffered gastrointestinal symptoms and an estimated 69 died. Fatalities occurred primarily among patients with AIDS or other immune system disorders (87;137;179). Elderly persons also had an increased risk of severe disease (198). The total economic cost, due to medical costs and productivity losses, was estimated at \$96.2 million (50).

Cryptosporidium can cause mild or severe symptoms depending on the dose of oocysts ingested, the virulence of the strain of *C. parvum*, and the immunocompetence of the affected individuals (207). In healthy adult volunteers, the median infective dose was determined to be 132 oocysts (68).

Foodborne outbreaks of *Cryptosporidium* have been associated with raw produce apparently contaminated by infected food handlers and cider and unpasteurized milk that may have come into contact with cattle feces. *Cryptosporidium* oocysts can survive on stainless steel surfaces for several hours and are resistant to a 5% bleach solution, indicating the potential for cross contamination (59).

Water containing oocysts can be a source of contamination when it is used for washing fresh fruits and vegetables and when it is used as an ingredient in processing foods. When contaminated water was used to make beer and a carbonated cola beverage, there was an 85% loss of viability within 24 hours. In contrast, only a 35% viability loss was observed in orange juice and infant formula made with contaminated water (89).

Oocysts can survive in fresh, brackish and salt water at 15 and 30°C for several months and are readily filtered out of the water and taken up by clams, oysters and other shellfish (77;88;103; 107;197). As yet, no outbreaks of cryptosporidiosis associated with shellfish have been reported but surveys of shellfish from various bodies of water including some commercial beds reveal that *Cryptosporidium* is often present (65–81% of sites or times sampled along the Atlantic coast) (79;80;102; 174). Cooking will kill these parasites, but those who

Location	Year	Vehicle of infection	Cases	Deaths	Ref.
Queensland, Australia	2001	Unpasteurized milk	8	0	(122)
Ireland	2000	Drinking water	576	0	(99)
England	2000	Drinking water	58	0	(136)
Washington DC	1998	Raw produce; Foodhandler	88	0	(228)
Spokane, WA	1997	Green onions (?); Foodhandler (?	?) 51	0	(227)
Florida	1995	Outdoor water faucet	77	0	(230)
Minnesota	1995	Chicken salad	50	0	(20)
Las Vegas, NV	1994	Drinking water	78	20	(101; 237)
Maine	1993	Cider	213	0	(189)
Milwaukee, WI	1993	Drinking water	>400,000	69	(50; 87; 137; 179; 179; 198)

Table 4. Recent outbreaks of cryptosporidiosis.

prefer raw shellfish have another foodborne pathogen to be concerned about.

C. parvum oocysts have also been detected in flies, and these may serve as a vector by transferring oocysts from feces to foods (*109*).

An excellent recent review discusses detection methods and processing controls that may be useful to the food industry in reducing or eliminating this parasite from human foods (188). Attention should be focussed on a clean water supply, the possibility of contaminated raw ingredients, rodent and insect control, and employee hygiene.

Cyclospora

Only recently was *Cyclospora cayetanensis* recognized as a cause of foodborne illness. Several large, multistate outbreaks associated with consumption of imported raspberries occurred in the 1990s. Other outbreaks implicated salad greens, basil, or other berries as vehicles of infection (Table 5). These recent foodborne outbreaks are believed to have resulted from the use of contaminated water in irrigating or in applying pesticides or fertilizers to crops. When oocysts are first eliminated in feces of their host, they are unsporulated and are not immediately infective. Therefore, it is thought that infected food handlers are probably not capable of transmitting this disease. However, the environmental conditions necessary to induce sporulation are unknown and it is possible that sporulation could occur rapidly under some conditions.

Cyclospora is endemic in many developing countries where the lack of clean water and sanitary facilities facilitate transmission by the fecal-oral route. Some epidemiological studies have found an association between ownership of domestic animals and cyclosporiasis. However, humans are the only known host for *C. cayetanensis*. There is evidence that people living in endemic areas and eating local food develop an immunity to Cyclospora. People may pass oocysts but experience no gastrointestinal symptoms (19). Cyclospora causes prolonged diarrhea that can be debilitating particularly in infants and the immunocompromised (18;90). There have been a few reports of severe complications of infections including Guillain-Barré syndrome (232) and reactive arthritis (Reiter) syndrome (46).

Entamoeba

Entamoeba histolytica is an important cause of diarrhea in people in tropical and subtropical countries. Cases in the U.S. generally occur in immigrants, travelers returning from endemic areas, and in persons living in states along the border with Mexico. The closely related and morphologically indistinguishable species *E. dispar* is also found in the human intestine but does not cause diarrhea. Some older data on prevalence and epidemiology of *E. histolytica* may

Location	Date	Vehicle of infection	Cases	Reference
Germany	2000	Salad	34	(63)
Pennsylvania	2000	Imported raspberries	54	(133)
Ontario and Florida	1999	Berries	198	(128)
Missouri	1999	Basil (imported or domestic)	64	(172)
Ontario, Canada	1998	Imported raspberries	315	(39)
US (13 states), Canada (1 province)	1997	Imported raspberries	1012	(129)
Virginia, Maryland, Washington DC	1997	Basil	341	(35)
Florida	1997	Mesclun lettuce	67	(36; 115)
US (20 states), Canada (2 provinces)	1996	Imported raspberries	1465	(34; 82)

Table 5. Reported foodborne outbreaks of cyclosporiasis.

be inaccurate because tests were not capable of distinguishing the two species until recently. *E. histolytica* is the second leading parasitic cause of death (after malaria) and has been estimated to infect 50,000,000 people worldwide of whom 40,000 to 100,000 die yearly. Over one million cases of amoebiasis were reported in Mexico in 1996 (257).

Many people exposed to *E. histolytica* remain asymptomatic but even these people may be sources of infection. Recent data from Mexico showed that 340 asymptomatic carriers excreted an average of nearly 4,000 *Entamoeba* cysts/g feces. Cysts from some of these persons were likely to have been *E. dispar* but the large numbers of cysts produced indicate a significant potential for transmission if sanitary conditions are inadequate. Males produced six times as many cysts as females, and these cysts were significantly smaller (*96*).

Studies in an endemic area of Bangladesh revealed that some children develop resistance to *E. histolytica* while others are genetically more susceptible to amebiasis (*119*). These results indicate that it may be possible to produce an effective vaccine. The mucin layer in the intestine inhibits attachment of the amoebae but if it is breached, *Entamoeba* may cause colitis and invade other tissues, particularly the liver (*120;257*). Invasive amebiasis occurs almost exclusively in adults and is reported to be up to ten-fold more common in males (*24;249*).

Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that contaminated drinking water is an important vehicle for transmission in underdeveloped countries. Epidemics have occurred in developed countries when there was a breakdown in a water purification system or cross-contamination between sewage and drinking-water pipes (17). Foodborne transmission is often associated with an infected food handler and also occurs when produce is freshened or crops are irrigated with contaminated water. Flies, cockroaches and other insects may also transfer cysts from feces to foods (163).

Giardia

According to the Centers for Disease Control, *Giardia lamblia (intestinalis)* is the most commonly diagnosed intestinal parasite and causes an estimated two million cases of diarrhea in the U.S. each year (*38*). *Giardia* cysts may be released in the stool for weeks and even months and may be present in concentrations as high as $10^{7}/g$ (202).

Foodborne giardiasis can result from the use of contaminated water for irrigating or washing fruits and vegetables. A survey, in the U.S. and Central America, of 25 samples of water used to irrigate food crops traditionally eaten raw revealed that 60% contained *Giardia* (261). *Giardia* cysts were detected in 2% of seed sprouts tested in Norway; source of the contamination in the sprouts was not the water used for sprouting but the unsprouted seeds themselves (235).

Food handlers who are infected themselves or have had contact with the feces of infected children have been implicated in some foodborne outbreaks. An outbreak in 1996 was traced to contaminated ice cream, and poor personal hygiene was cited as a contributing factor (40). Prepared foods such as sandwiches, salads, canned salmon, and ice have also been implicated in foodborne outbreaks (201;241). *G. lamblia* cysts have also been detected in flies that may serve as a vector for contamination of foods (109).

Giardia cysts are present in surface waters, even in areas remote from significant human activity, and apparently originate from wild animals. (Giardiasis in backpackers has been nicknamed beaver fever.) Cysts have also been detected in some groundwater samples (117), in well water associated with acute digestive disorders (100), and in water distribution systems in cities in Australia (52) and Canada (274). Giardia contamination of surface and well waters may originate from wild animals, domestic animals and human sewage. Giardia cysts are highly concentrated in some cattle feces (5800 cysts/g) (127) although some strains of Giardia do not readily infect humans (9). Of 39 outbreaks of this disease associated with drinking water reported to the CDC in 1999-2000, 6 outbreaks, affecting 52 people, were traced to the presence of G. intestinalis in inadequately treated well or river water or in water contaminated by cross connections with pipes containing sewage or drinking water for animals (30;125;165).

Parasitic Worms — Nematodes

Anisakis *and* Pseudoterranova *(Sealworm, Codworm)*

Anisakiasis was first recognized as a human disease about forty years ago but became more familiar to U.S. consumers about 15 years ago when people occasionally noticed live, wriggling worms in fish that had been cooked in microwave ovens. The increasing popularity of Japanese and other ethnic dishes containing raw fish has aroused more concern about fish parasites (246). Fish most commonly identified as vectors for Anisakis are chub mackerel and flying squid in Japan and pickled anchovies, raw sardines, cold smoked salmon, raw or pickled herring in Western Europe and the U.S. Pseudoterranova infects cod causing losses of \$26-50 million annually to fish processors in Atlantic Canada (184). Other fish, including whiting, mackerel, pollack, and flounder, may also contain these parasites (13;86;221;222; 259). A survey of fish in a Belgian market revealed that approximately 11% were infected (221) while a

recent survey of farmed salmon in Norway did not find any infected fish (178). Some surveys have shown that the rate of infection with anisakid larvae varies by season and increases with fish size (148). Water temperatures and seal populations may also affect the abundance of these parasites (185).

Dolphins and whales are the normal definitive hosts for *Anisakis*, and seals and sea lions are definitive hosts for *Pseudoterranova*. Adult worms in these marine mammals produce eggs that pass out with the feces, hatch, and the larvae are consumed by shrimp. When fish or squid eat the shrimp, the larvae are released, bore through the stomach wall, and may remain in the abdominal cavity or penetrate nearby muscles. The life cycle is completed when infected fish or squid are eaten by marine mammals (184;243).

Humans are an accidental host and these larvae cannot mature in the human gut. Instead the worms burrow into the intestinal or stomach wall and may wander to the liver, lungs or other tissues, causing gastric disturbances and allergic reactions. In fact, some people who appear to be allergic to "fish" are actually allergic to *Anisakis* in the fish muscle (*13*). It should be noted that even if larvae are killed by cooking, this will not completely eliminate the potential for causing allergic reactions in sensitive people (*13*;*55*;*71*;*86*;*155*;*181*;*184*;*217*).

Ascaris

Ascaris lumbricoides is a common intestinal roundworm parasite infecting an estimated one-quarter of the world's population (116). In some areas without adequate hygiene, babies may become infected within months after birth and the subsequent growth of the worms stunts growth and contributes to diarrheal infections and early childhood mortality (53;192). Many infected adults do not exhibit symptoms although these worms are known to irritate the intestinal lining and interfere with the absorption of fats and protein. In some cases, Ascaris causes more severe infections in the liver or lungs (154;242).

Humans are the only known host for this roundworm. Eggs passed out with feces may be ingested by the same or another person who drinks contaminated water, eats with dirty hands, or eats uncooked vegetables that have been fertilized with contaminated human wastes. Upon ingestion, the eggs hatch in the intestine and the worms may migrate to the lungs or liver before returning to the intestine and maturing. Techniques for the detection and enumeration of *Ascaris* eggs on vegetables have been developed and may be useful for screening fresh vegetables for contamination (234).

Angiostrongylus cantonensis *and* A. costaricensis *(Rat lungworm)*

As the common name suggests, the normal definitive hosts of these parasites are rats and other rodents. However, individual cases and outbreaks of human infection with these parasites have been reported usually from Southeast Asia (157;264), the Pacific islands (215) or Latin America (161). Some individual cases have been reported from the U.S. (140;199), and an outbreak involving 12 American tourists returning from Jamaica occurred in 2000 (252). Because humans are not a natural host, these parasites do not migrate to the lungs in humans but rather to the tissues surrounding the brain where they cause eosinophilic meningitis (A. cantonensis) or they remain in the abdomen causing severe intestinal upset (A. costaricensis). Usually infections are self limiting although some serious cases (37;224;281) and even deaths have been reported.

The usual life cycle of A. cantonensis involves a snail or slug as intermediate host with the rat as final host. Infected snails and rats have been detected in the southern U.S. and on many Caribbean islands (168). Sometimes freshwater fish, frogs, or cravfish serve as transport hosts. People acquire these parasites by consuming raw or inadequately cooked infected snails or transport hosts (264). In a New Orleans case, an 11-year-old boy admitted eating a raw snail on a dare. Infected snails traversing lettuce leaves or other vegetables in the field may deposit infective larvae in their slimy mucus trails (250) or small infected slugs may hide amid the folds of vegetable leaves and be eaten inadvertently. In the tourist outbreak a salad was epidemiologically related to infection (252), while mint leaves were implicated in a Guatemalan outbreak (161).

Gnathostoma sp.

Nematodes of the genus *Gnathostoma* cause a foodborne human illness characterized by creeping skin eruptions that are sometimes accompanied by erythema and local edema. Occasionally the worms

migrate to the eye or other internal organs and may cause meningitis and other serious illness (15;171). This disease occurs primarily in some Asian and Latin American countries although it has been reported in the U.S. and Europe in travelers returning from endemic areas in Asia and Africa (114;171;226). Sixteen such travelers were identified at a London hospital for tropical diseases during a twelve-month period (41).

Gnathostomes usually utilize two intermediate hosts. Adult worms living in wild or domestic cats and dogs release eggs with the host feces. Larvae hatch in fresh water and are ingested by small crustaceans that are then eaten by fish, frogs, or other animals. In these animals, the larvae migrate out of the gut and encyst in muscles. Consumption of raw or lightly cooked, infected fish, shrimp, frogs, etc. introduces the parasite into humans or other animals. Gnathostomes are active little parasites and migrate out of the gut to various tissues. In cats and dogs, they eventually migrate back to the stomach and complete their life cycle while in humans they often migrate to the skin, causing a creeping eruption.

Cases of gnathostomiasis in Japan have been traced to consumption of raw fish and shrimp (3;204) while in Mexico and other Latin American countries, patients often report consumption of cebiche (ceviche), a dish made with raw fish (206;239). A survey of swamp eels purchased at markets in Bangkok revealed that 74% contained gnathostomes during the rainy season while only 8% were infected during the dry season (258).

Trichinella spiralis (Trichinosis)

T. spiralis is a cosmopolitan parasite occurring in numerous carnivores and omnivores. Humans in the U.S. have traditionally acquired this nematode by eating encapsulated larvae in raw or lightly cooked pork. Improved swine feeding practices and regular inspections at slaughterhouses have drastically reduced the incidence of trichinae in raw pork in the U.S. During 1997–2001, only 17% of cases were associated with commercial pork and 13% of cases were traced to non-commercial pork (41). However, a small percentage of commercial hogs, estimated at 0.1% (175), still contain this parasite. Occasional large outbreaks still occur, reminding us to cook potentially contaminated meat well. In 1990, 105 people in the U.S. contracted trichinosis in two outbreaks

traced to raw sausage made from pork from commercial hogs (219). Commercially prepared raw sausage and contaminated ground meat were responsible for 52 case of trichinosis in Germany in 1998–1999 (37). In some European countries raw horse meat, also a vehicle for infection (6), is an ingredient in traditional foods.

Trichinosis in the U.S. is a notifiable disease and cases have steadily declined from the late 1940s when there was an average of 400 cases of overt illness per year to 1997-2001 with an average of 14 cases/year (41). Some recent outbreaks have been traced to wild boar, walrus or bear meat (110), and wild game meat was reported to be the most common source of infection in the U.S. during 1997–2001 (8;41;131;270). Bear meat was responsible for five outbreaks accounting for 29 (40%) cases, and cougar and wild boar meats were associated with one case each. Wild game is a source of trichinosis in other countries as well. At least 16 cases associated with walrus meat were reported from Canada in 2002 (131). In February 2003, an outbreak in Poland affecting at least 124 people is believed to have been caused by infected wild boar meat although other wild game might have been involved (216).

Trichinella completes one round of its life cycle in one host animal. After infective larvae in meat are ingested, they excyst in the intestine, mature, and a new generation of infective larvae is produced. They burrow out of the intestine and travel throughout the body. Highest concentrations of larvae in pigs are found in the diaphragm and tongue but they are also present in various skeletal muscles. The encapsulated larvae may remain alive for many years, but often they become calcified and die within 6–12 months. In order for the larvae to mature, the infected muscle must be eaten by another carnivore.

Parasitic Worms — Trematodes

Clonorchis/Opisthorchis (Liver flukes)

In eastern and southeastern Asia, several related parasitic worms of the genera *Clonorchis* and *Opisthorchis* lodge in the liver of infected humans and other animals causing blockage and hyperplasia of the bile passages. Light infections may cause mild symptoms of liver dysfunction while heavier infections result in hepatitis and digestive disorders. Several epidemiological studies have demonstrated a significant association between chronic infection with these liver flukes and a type of liver cancer, cholangiocarcinoma (277).

Liver flukes have a complex life cycle involving two intermediate hosts, snails and fish. Humans and other fish-eating animals complete the life cycle by eating raw, infected fish and digesting out the cysts. Then the larvae migrate to the liver, mature, and produce eggs.

Traditionally, cases of this disease have been confined to Asia. The parasites have been detected in fish, cats and other animals in most Asian countries and also in Siberia, Kazakstan, the Ukraine, and Germany. With the influx of Asian immigrants to Australia and other Western countries since the 1970s, human infections with liver flukes have been diagnosed in numerous countries where the disease is not endemic (*57*).

Liver flukes are unlikely to become an established or widespread problem in the U.S. However, these parasites may be present in immigrants from Asian countries and there is a potential for contaminated freshwater fish to be imported from endemic areas.

Fasciola hepatica (Liver fluke)

F. hepatica is a well-known parasite of domesticated ruminants causing significant economic losses in the cattle and sheep industries of some countries (124;156;210). Human cases usually occur in parts of countries in South America, North Africa and the Middle East where sanitary facilities are inadequate and clean water is not available. In some areas of Bolivia more than 60% of the local population is infected, and a large outbreak affecting 10,000 people occurred in Iran in 1988 (75;182;238). Human outbreaks and cases may occur where this parasite is a livestock problem but also occur in areas where the animal parasite burden is low (182). People in developed countries are also occasionally infected if salad greens have been contaminated (112;139).

Disease symptoms include fever, abdominal pain, weight loss and enlarged liver. Some evidence suggests that heavy or chronic infections of this parasite are associated with liver tumors (124). Experimental data demonstrated that *Fasciola* infections in mice can cause an increase in mutations in nearby liver cells (98).

Adult *Fasciola* inhabit the liver, producing eggs that pass out with the feces. The eggs hatch in water, larvae penetrate snails and undergo further development before leaving the snail and encysting in water or on vegetation in or near the water. During rainy spells, cysts may also be present on field plants such as dandelion leaves. *Fasciola* cysts can survive in running water for as long as 122 days, in pasture for up to a year, and even for a few months in hay (124). Humans often become infected from eating watercress (112;139) and a variety of other plants (75;124) growing near contaminated fields and from drinking contaminated water (70;135).

Fasciolopsis buski (Fasciolopsiasis, Intestinal fluke)

F. buski is the largest trematode infecting humans, with adult worms typically 8–10 cm long. Worms most commonly inhabit the intestines of farm pigs and school age children in Asian countries. Anemia, headache, and gastric distress characterize mild infections while heavier infections cause severe abdominal pain, malnutrition, edema, and sometimes intestinal blockage.

This parasite requires a single intermediate host. Eggs are deposited in feces, hatch in water, and the larvae penetrate snails and undergo development. After 4-6 weeks the parasites emerge from the snails and encyst in water or on aquatic plants. Consumption of contaminated water or of raw aquatic vegetables allows for completion of the life cycle (108).

This parasite is not likely to be a problem in the U.S. except among immigrants and foreign travelers. Contaminated vegetables that might be imported from endemic areas would probably be dried or canned and both processes would destroy the parasite.

Paragonimus (Lung fluke)

Nine species of the trematode *Paragonimus* reside in many parts of the world, including North America, and infect the human lung and occasionally other tissues, including the brain. Symptoms of diarrhea, abdominal pain, and fever may occur early after infection and progress to coughing and thoracic pain as the worms settle in the lungs. Infections are sometimes initially misdiagnosed as tuberculosis, which can delay effective treatment (*196;267*).

The life cycle of this parasite includes two or more intermediate hosts: a freshwater snail, then a crab or crayfish, and sometimes an animal which eats the crabs and then is consumed by humans. The worms can mature only in humans and some wild carnivores. When other mammals, such as wild boar, consume infected crabs, *Paragonimus* cannot complete its life cycle but migrates to the muscles and encysts. If humans consume infected boar meat, the worms emerge from the cyst and migrate to the lungs where they mate and produce eggs.

Most commonly, people become infected by eating raw or pickled crabs, including a Chinese delicacy called "drunken crab" (47;54;147). But some cases in Japan have been traced to undercooked wild boar meat (196;245), and undercooked guinea pig meat is believed to be a vector in some South American countries (132). Many of the cases diagnosed in the U.S. occur in immigrants who were already infected when they came to this country or continue to eat imported raw crustaceans (187). Cases acquired in the U.S. have been traced to consumption of raw crayfish (58;225). Neither pickling nor salting destroys *Paragonimus*, but adequate cooking will make crabs, crayfish and meat safe to eat.

Parasitic Worms — Cestodes

Taenia spp.

Tapeworms of the genus *Taenia* may be the most familiar of foodborne parasitic worms, with adults measuring 3–5 meters in length in the intestine of human hosts. Three species are of primary concern to humans and all have intermediate stages in important domestic animals: *Taenia saginata* in cattle and *Taenia solium* and *Taenia asiatica* in hogs. There have been reports that other mammals, including dogs and bear (*141;260*), can serve as intermediate hosts for *T. solium*, reindeer can harbor *T. saginata*, and goats and monkeys can harbor *T. asiatica* (29).

Although *Taenia* spp. are cosmopolitan, modern sanitary facilities and animal husbandry practices in developed countries have greatly decreased risk of infection (265). However, in some regions of the world these parasites are a significant problem. *T. solium*, in particular, may be present in as many as 20% of hogs (resulting in loss of productivity)

and causes debilitating human disease that is difficult and expensive to treat (72;134;220).

Taenia life cycles involve two mammalian hosts. Adults in the human intestine may live for more than twenty years, producing several thousand eggs daily that pass out with the feces. If these are consumed by an intermediate host, they develop into larvae (cysticerci) which migrate to the muscles. Consumption of raw or inadequately cooked, infected beef or pork introduces the larvae into the human intestinal tract where they mature into adult worms. Infections may be asymptomatic or may generate non-specific complaints such as altered appetite, abdominal pain, diarrhea or constipation.

Humans may also serve as the intermediate host for *T. solium* (but not for *T. saginata* or *T. asiatica*). When *T. solium* eggs are ingested via dirty hands or fecally contaminated vegetables, larvae hatch in the small intestine and travel to various tissues and organs in the body where they encyst causing cysticercosis. Some studies report that up to 40% of carriers of adult worms also have cysticercosis, indicating that fecal–oral transmission, either directly or via contaminated food or water, is common. Use of untreated urban sewage sludge on pastures may cause cysticercosis in cattle or hogs while untreated human wastes containing *T. solium* eggs, if used as a garden fertilizer, could cause cysticercosis in humans (29).

The most serious consequences occur when the larvae reach the brain, causing neurocysticercosis that often triggers headaches, seizures, and other neurological symptoms (93). This is the most common parasitic disease of the central nervous system and is a major concern in some areas of Latin America, Africa, Asia, and Eastern Europe (83;94;200;203; 205;223). Even in the U.S., where infection with adult tapeworms is relatively rare, more than 1000 cases of neurocysticercosis occur each year (31). Most cases are diagnosed in immigrants from endemic areas, and approximately 10-12% of emergency room visits for seizures in southern California and New Mexico were due to this disease. Cases acquired in the U.S. can sometimes be traced to contacts with immigrants, including cooks, infected with the pork tapeworm, who may cause foodborne outbreaks of neurocysticercosis (33;209).

Diphyllobothrium spp. (Fish tapeworm)

Diphyllobothrium spp. has long been associated with cultures that consume raw or lightly cooked fish (231). At present, human infections are most common in Finland, Scandinavia, Alaska, Canada, Japan, and Peru (61).

Humans are one of the primary definitive hosts and the adult tapeworm may grow to a length of ten meters in the intestine. Eggs pass out with feces, hatch in water, and the larvae are eaten by a copepod. Fish that eat copepods become infected and then pass the parasites on to humans who eat raw fish. D. latum is widely distributed in pike and, to a lesser extent, in walleye and yellow perch in central Canada and has also been found in fish in northern Minnesota and northern Michigan. Trout and salmon may carry the larvae of D. latum in South America but not in North America. Some other species of Diphyllobothrium have been isolated from salmon in Japan and Alaska. Wolves, bears, and other fish-eating mammals and birds can also serve as definitive hosts for some species of Diphyllobothrium. Their feces will contain parasite eggs that can wash into lakes or streams.

Usually the presence of one worm causes no symptoms but many worms can cause abdominal pain, diarrhea, and anemia. Humans cannot serve as true intermediate hosts for this parasite (as is the case for the pork tapeworm). However, consumption of water containing newly hatched larvae or infected copepods can give rise to a condition called sparganosis. The ingested larvae penetrate the intestinal wall and migrate to tissues just under the skin causing some discomfort before they die.

Echinococcus spp.

The adult stage of this tapeworm lives in dogs, foxes and other canids and intermediate stages normally infect sheep, goats, pigs, horses, and cattle. Humans can also serve as an intermediate host if they ingest tapeworm eggs in contaminated water or on raw, contaminated vegetables. The larval tapeworms form fluid-filled cysts (called hydatid cysts) in the liver, lungs and other organs of intermediate hosts. Tissue damage may be severe in some cases (106;262). This disease is endemic in some areas of north Africa, Asia, the Middle East (5;263), and some European Mediterranean countries (152;248) and occasional cases may be seen in the U.S., usually among immigrants.

Summary

Parasites do not cause as many outbreaks of foodborne disease in the U.S. as viruses and bacteria. However, even though they are less common, some parasites can cause severe illness in elderly or immunocompromised individuals and others can have serious effects even in the immunocompetent. The organisms most likely to be of concern in the U.S. are Anisakis, Cryptosporidium, Cyclospora, Giardia, Taenia solium, Toxoplasma, and Trichinella. Other organisms considered in this review are uncommon in temperate climates and in areas with good sanitary facilities. However, there is the potential that some of them could be present on imported foods or in foods prepared by infected food handlers. With increasing international travel, there is also the possibility of exposure to these parasites in other countries.

Although the incidence of trichinosis has decreased in the U.S. there are still some infected pigs and pigs can also carry *Toxoplasma*. Therefore, proper cooking of pork remains important. In addition, wild game can be an important source of both of these parasites and should be well cooked. Freezing of wild game meat cannot be relied on to kill parasites.

Taenia solium, the pork tapeworm, is seldom detected in pork in the U.S. It poses the most danger to humans when the eggs are ingested and the larvae travel to the brain causing neurocysticercosis. The issue here is not the proper cooking of pork but

sanitation — proper disposal of human wastes, clean hands, and washing fresh fruits and vegetables that might have been contaminated with feces containing tapeworm eggs.

Raw fish can contain *Anisakis* and some other less common parasites and, if it is to be eaten raw, should first be frozen to kill the parasites. There is a potential risk that raw shellfish will contain protozoan parasites, such as *Cryptosporidium*. Elderly and immunocompromised persons should avoid or be very cautious about consuming raw meat, fish, or shellfish.

Giardia, *Cryptosporidium*, and *Cyclospora* are all spread by the fecal–oral route and therefore sanitary procedures will aid in preventing transmission. However, these parasites may also live in a variety of domestic and wild animals and outbreaks have occurred even in developed countries where sanitary systems for human wastes are adequate. Untreated surface waters may contain these parasites and fruits and vegetables may contain resistant oocysts or cysts of these parasites if they are washed or irrigated with contaminated water.

Proper cooking of meat and fish and washing of fresh fruits and vegetables — which are standard procedures for preventing other foodborne diseases — will also be effective in killing or removing parasites from foods. Several other procedures, including freezing, irradiation, UV light, and ozonation, may also be useful in killing some parasites.

References

1. Abdussalam M, Käferstein FK, and Mott KE. 1995. Food safety measures for the control of foodborne trematode infections. Food Control 6:71–79.

2. Ajzenberg D, Cogné N, Paris L, Bessières MH, Thulliez P, Filisetti D, Pelloux H, Marty P, and Dardé ML. 2002. Genotype of 86 *Toxoplasma gondii* isolates associated with human congenital toxoplasmosis, and correlation with clinical findings. J Infect Dis 186:684– 689.

3. Akahane H, Shibue K, Shimizu A, and Toshitani S. 1998. Human gnathostomiasis caused by *Gnathostoma doloresi*, with particular reference to the parasitological investigation of the causative agent. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 92:721–726.

4. Alabay BM, Emre Z, Çerçi H, Ersen S, and Mutluer B. 1993. Inhibition of viability and infectivity of *Cysticercus bovis* by irradiation of meat. Proc. final research coordination meeting on *Use of Irradiation to Control Infectivity of Food-borne Parasites*, Mexico City 24–28 June 1991. Vienna: IAEA, pp. 15–22.

5. Altintas N. 2003. Past to present: echinococcosis in Turkey. Acta Tropica 85:105–112.

6. Ancelle T, Dupouy-Camet J, Heyer F, Faurant C, Lapierre J, Parham G, Leese W, and Leighty JC. 1986. Horsemeat-associated trichinosis — France. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 35:291–292; 297–298.

7. Ando K. 1994. The influences of global environmental changes on nematodes. Jap J Parasitol 43:477–482.

8. Anon. 1990. Walrus without tears. Lancet 335:202-203.

9. Appelbee AJ, Frederick LM, Heitman TL, and Olson ME. 2003. Prevalence and genotyping of *Giardia* duodenalis from beef calves in Alberta, Canada. Vet Parasitol 112:289–294.

10. Asaolu SO, Ofoezie IE, Odumuyiwa PA, Sowemimo OA, and Ogunniyi TAB. 2002. Effect of water supply and sanitation on the prevalence and intensity of *Ascaris lumbricoides* among pre-school-age children in Ajebandele and Ifewara, Osun State, Nigeria. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:600–604.

11. Ashokkumar M, Vu T, Grieser F, Weerawardena A, Anderson N, Pilkington N, and Dixon DR. 2003. Ultrasonic treatment of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts. Water Sci Technol 47:173–177.

12. Aspinall TV, Marlee D, Hyde JE, and Sims PFG. 2002. Prevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* in commercial meat products as monitored by polymerase chain reaction — food for thought? Int J Parasitol 32:1193–1199.

13. Audicana MT, Ansotegui IJ, de Corres LF, and Kennedy MW. 2002. *Anisakis simplex*: dangerous — dead and alive? Trends Parasitol 18:20–25.

14. Backer H. 2002. Water disinfection for international and wilderness travelers. Clin Infect Dis 34:355– 364.

15. Baquera-Heredia J, Cruz-Reyes A, Flores-Gaxiola A, Lopez-Pulido G, Diaz-Simental E, and Valderrama-Valenzuela L. 2002. Case report: Ocular gnathostomiasis in northwestern Mexico. Am J Trop Med Hyg 66:572–574.

16. Barragan A and Sibley LD. 2002. Transepithelial migration of *Toxoplasma gondii* is linked to parasite motility and virulence. J Exp Med 195:1625–1633.

17. Barwick RS, Uzicanin A, Lareau S, Malakmadze N, Imnadze P, Iosava M, Ninashvili N, Wilson M, Hightower AW, Johnston S, Bishop H, Petri WA Jr, and Juranek DD. 2002. Outbreak of amebiasis in Tbilisi, Republic of Georgia, 1998. Am J Trop Med Hyg 67:623–31.

18. Bern C, Hernandez B, Lopez MB, Arrowood MJ, de Mejia MA, de Merida AM, Hightower AW, Venczel L, Herwaldt BL, and Klein RE. 1999. Epidemiologic studies of *Cyclospora cayetanensis* in Guatemala. Emerg Infect Dis 5:766–774.

19. Bern C, Ortega Y, Checkley W, Roberts JM, Lescano AG, Cabrera L, Verastegui M, Black RE, Sterling C, and Gilman RH. 2002. Epidemiologic differences between cyclosporiasis and cryptosporidiosis in Peruvian children. Emerg Infect Dis 8:581–585.

20. Besser-Wiek JW, Forfang J, Hedberg CW, Korlath JA, Osterholm MT, Sterling CR, and Garcia L. 1996. Foodborne outbreak of diarrheal illness associated with *Cryptosporidium parvum* — Minnesota, 1995. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 45:783–784.

21. Bhopale GM. 2003. Development of a vaccine for toxoplasmosis: current status. Microbes Infect 5:457–462.

22. Bhopale GM. 2003. Pathogenesis of toxoplasmosis. Comp Immunol, Microbiol Infect Dis 26:213–222.

23. Bicudo JR and Goyal SM. 2003. Pathogens and manure management systems: A review. Environ Technol 24:115–130.

24. Blessmann J, Van LP, Nu PAT, Thi HD, Muller-Myhsok B, Buss H, and Tannich E. 2002. Epidemiology of amebiasis in a region of high incidence of amebic liver abscess in central Vietnam. Am J Trop Med Hyg 66:578– 583.

25. Boothroyd JC and Grigg ME. 2002. Population biology of *Toxoplasma gondii* and its relevance to human infection: do different strains cause different disease? Curr Opin Microbiol 5:438–442.

26. Bowie WR, King AS, Werker DH, Isaacrenton JL, Bell A, Eng SB, and Marion SA. 1997. Outbreak of toxoplasmosis associated with municipal drinking water. Lancet 350:173–177.

27. Bruckner DA. 2000. Helminthic food-borne infections. Clin Lab Med 19:639–660.

28. Burnett AJ, Shortt SG, Isaacrenton J, King A, Werker D, and Bowie WR. 1998. Multiple cases of acquired toxoplasmosis retinitis presenting in an outbreak. Ophthalmology 105:1032–1037.

29. Cabaret J, Geerts S, Madeline M, Ballandonne C, and Barbier D. 2002. The use of urban sewage sludge on pastures: the cysticercosis threat. Vet Res 33: 575–597.

30. Campbell AT and Wallis P. 2002. The effect of UV irradiation on human-derived *Giardia lamblia* cysts. Water Res 36:963–969.

31. Carpio A. 2002. Neurocysticercosis: an update. Lancet Infect Dis 2:751–762.

32. Carruthers VB. 2002. Host cell invasion by the opportunistic pathogen *Toxoplasma gondii*. Acta Tropica 81:111–122.

33. Centers for Disease Control. 1992. Locally acquired neurocysticercosis — North Carolina, Massachusetts, and South Carolina, 1989–1991. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 41:1–4.

34. Centers for Disease Control. 1996. Update: outbreaks of *Cyclospora cayetanensis* infection — United States and Canada, 1996. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 45:611–612.

35. Centers for Disease Control. 1997. Outbreak of cyclosporiasis — northern Virginia, Washington, DC,-Baltimore, Maryland, metropolitan area, 1997. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 46:689–691.

36. Centers for Disease Control. 1997. Update: Outbreaks of cyclosporiasis — United States, 1997. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 46:461–462.

37. Centers for Disease Control. 1999. Trichinellosis outbreaks — North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany, 1998–1999. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 48:488–492.

38. Centers for Disease Control. 2000. Giardiasis surveillance — United States, 1992–1997. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 49:1–13.

39. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 1998. Outbreak of cyclosporiasis — Ontario, Canada, May, 1998. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 47:806–809.

40. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2000. Surveillance for foodborne-disease outbreaks — United States, 1993–1997. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 49:1–62.

41. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2003. Trichinosis Surveillance — United States, 1997–2001. Surveillance Summaries 52:1–8.

42. Chai JY, Hong ST, and Lee SH. 1993. Effects of gamma irradiation on the survival and development of Clonorchis sinensis metacercariae. Proc. final research co-ordination meeting on *Use of Irradiation to Control Infectivity of Food-borne Parasites*, Mexico City 24–28 June 1991. Vienna: IAEA, pp. 33–41.

43. Chernicharo CAD, Silva JCD, Zerbini AM, and Godinho VM. 2003. Inactivation of *E. coli* and helminth eggs in aerobic and anaerobic effluents using UV radiation. Water Sci Technol 47:185–192.

44. Choi WY, Nam HW, Kwak NH, Huh W, Kim YR, Kang MW, Cho SY, and Dubey JP. 1997. Foodborne outbreaks of human toxoplasmosis. J Infect Dis 175:1280–1282.

45. Clark RM, Sivaganesan M, Rice EW, and Chen J. 2003. Development of a Ct equation for the inactivation of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts with chlorine dioxide. Water Res 37(11):2773–2783.

46. Connor BA, Johnson E, and Soave R. 2001. Reiter syndrome following protracted symptoms of *Cyclospora* infection. Emerg Infect Dis 7:453–454.

47. Cornejo W, Huiza A, Espinoza Y, Alva P, Sevilla C, and Centurion W. 2000. Paragonimosis in the Cajabamba and Condebamba districts, Cajamarca, Peru. Rev Instit Med Trop Sao Paulo 42(5):245–247.

48. Corona-Vasquez B, Rennecker JL, Driedger AM, and Mariñas BJ. 2002. Sequential inactivation of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts with chlorine dioxide followed by free chlorine or monochloramine. Water Res 36:178–188.

49. Corona-Vasquez B, Samuelson A, Rennecker JL, and Mariñas BJ. 2002. Inactivation of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts with ozone and free chlorine. Water Res 36:4053–4063.

50. Corso PS, Kramer MH, Blair KA, Addiss DG, Davis JP, and Haddix AC. 2003. Cost of illness in the 1993 waterborne *Cryptosporidium* outbreak, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Emerg Infect Dis 9:426–431.

51. Cox FEG. 2002. History of human parasitology. Clin Microbiol Rev 15:595–612.

52. Cox P, Fisher I, Kastl G, Jegatheesan V, Warnecke M, Angles M, Bustamante H, Chiffings T, and Hawkins PR. 2003. Sydney 1998 — Lessons from a drinking water crisis. Journal American Water Works Association 95:147–161.

53. Crompton DWT and Nesheim MC. 2002. Nutritional impact of intestinal helminthiasis during the human life cycle. Ann Rev Nutr 22:35–59.

54. Cui J, Wang ZQ, Wu F, and Jin XX. 1998. An outbreak of paragonimiosis in Zhengzhou city, China. Acta Tropica 70:211–216.

55. Daschner A, Cuéllar C, Sánchez-Pastor S, Pascual CY, and Martín-Esteban M. 2002. Gastro-allergic anisakiasis as a consequence of simultaneous primary and secondary immune response. Parasit Immunol 24:243–251.

56. De Aluja AS, Nunez F, and Villalobos ANM. 1993. Use of gamma irradiation to prevent infectivity of

metacestodes of *Taenia solium* in pork. Proc. final research co-ordination meeting on *Use of Irradiation to Control Infectivity of Food-borne Parasites*, Mexico City 24–28 June 1991. Vienna: IAEA, pp. 23–32.

57. De Silva S, Saykao P, Kelly H, MacIntyre CR, Ryan N, Leydon J, and Biggs BA. 2002. Chronic *Strongyloides stercoralis* infection in Laotian immigrants and refugees 7–20 years after resettlement in Australia. Epidemiol Infect 128:439–444.

58. DeFrain M and Hooker R. 2002. North American paragonimiasis — Case report of a severe clinical infection. Chest 121:1368–1372.

59. Deng MQ and Cliver DO. 1999. *Cryptosporidium parvum* studies with dairy products. Int J Food Microbiol 46:113–121.

60. Deng MQ and Cliver DO. 2001. Inactivation of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in cider by flash pasteurization. J Food Prot 64:523–527.

61. Dick TA, Nelson PA, and Choudhury A. 2001. Diphyllobothriasis: update on human cases, foci, patterns, and sources of human infections and future considerations. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Pub Health 32:59–76.

62. Dittmar K and Teegen WR. 2003. The presence of *Fasciola hepatica* (Liver-fluke) in humans and cattle from a 4,500 year old archaeological site in the Saale-Unstrut Valley, Germany. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 98(Suppl 1):141–143.

63. Döller PC, Dietrich K, Filipp N, Brockmann S, Dreweck C, Vonthein R, Wagner-Wiening C, and Wiedenmann A. 2002. Cyclosporiasis outbreak in Germany associated with consumption of salad. Emerg Infect Dis 8:992–994.

64. Dubey JP, Gamble HR, Hill D, Sreekumar C, Romand S, and Thulliez P. 2002. High prevalence of viable *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in market weight pigs from a farm in Massachusetts. J Parasitol 88:1234–1238.

65. Dubey JP, Graham DH, Blackston CR, Lehmann T, Gennari SM, Ragozo AMA, Nishi SM, Shen SK, Kwok OCH, Hilla DE, and Thulliez P. 2002. Biological and genetic characterisation of *Toxoplasma gondii* isolates from chickens (*Gallus domesticus*) from Sao Paulo, Brazil: unexpected findings. Int J Parasitol 32:99–105.

66. Dubey JP, Saville WJA, Stanek JF, and Reed SM. 2002. Prevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* antibodies in domestic cats from rural Ohio. J Parasitol 88:802–803.

67. Dubey JP, Thayer DW, Speer CA, and Shen SK. 1998. Effect of gamma irradiation on unsporulated and sporulated *Toxoplasma gondii* oocysts. Int J Parasitol 28:369–375.

68. DuPont HL, Chappell CL, Sterling CR, Okhuysen PC, Rose JB, and Jakubowski W. 1995. The infectivity of

Cryptosporidium parvum in healthy volunteers. New Engl J Med 332:855–859.

69. Engels D, Urbani C, Belotto A, Meslin F, and Savioli L. 2003. The control of human (neuro)cysticercosis: which way forward? Acta Tropica 87:177–182.

70. Esteban JG, González C, Bargues MD, Angles R, Sánchez C, Náquira C, and Mas-Coma S. 2002. High fascioliasis infection in children linked to a man-made irrigation zone in Peru. Trop Med Int Health 7:339–348.

71. Falcão H, Lunet N, Neves E, and Barros H. 2002. Do only live larvae cause *Anisakis simplex* sensitization? Allergy 57:44.

72. Fan PC. 1997. Annual economic loss caused by *Taenia saginata asiatica* taeniasis in east Asia. Parasitol Today 13:194–196.

73. Fan PC. 1998. Viability of metacercariae of *Clonorchis sinensis* in frozen or salted fresh water fish. Int J Parasitol 28:603–605.

74. Fan PC, Ma YX, Kuo CH, and Chung WC. 1998. Survival of *Taenia solium* cysticerci in carcasses of pigs kept at 4°C. J Parasitol 84:174–175.

75. Farag HF. 1998. Human fascioliasis in some countries of the Eastern Mediterranean Region. East Medit Health J 4:159–160.

76. Fayer R. 1995. Effect of sodium hypochlorite exposure on infectivity of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts for neonatal BALB/c mice. Appl Environ Microbiol 61:844–846.

77. Fayer R, Graczyk TK, Lewis EJ, Trout JM, and Farley CA. 1998. Survival of infectious *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in seawater and eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) in the Chesapeake Bay. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:1070–1074.

78. Fayer R and Nerad T. 1996. Effects of low temperatures on viability of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:1431–1433.

79. Fayer R, Trout JM, Lewis EJ, Santin M, Zhou L, Lal AA, and Xiao L. 2003. Contamination of Atlantic coast commercial shellfish with *Cryptosporidium*. Parasitol Res 89:141–145.

80. Fayer R, Trout JM, Lewis EJ, Xiao L, Lal A, Jenkins MC, and Graczyk TK. 2002. Temporal variability of *Cryptosporidium* in the Chesapeake Bay. Parasitol Res 88:998–1003.

81. Fehlhaber K, Hintersdorf P, and Kruger G. 2002. Study on the prevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* in pigs of different management systems and in minced meat. Fleischwirtschaft 83(2):97–99.

82. Fleming CA, Caron D, Gunn JE, and Barry MA. 1998. A foodborne outbreak of *Cyclospora cayetanensis* at a wedding — clinical features and risk factors for illness. Arch Int Med 158:1121–1125.

83. Fleury A, Gomez T, Alvarez I, Meza D, Huerta M, Chavarria A, Mezo RAC, Lloyd C, Dessein A, Preux PM, Dumas M, Larralde C, Sciutto E, and Fragoso G. 2003. High prevalence of calcified silent neurocysticercosis in a rural village of Mexico. Neuroepidemiology 22(2):139–145.

84. Flisser A, Sarti E, Lightowlers M, and Schantz P. 2003. Neurocysticercosis: regional status, epidemiology, impact and control measures in the Americas. Acta Tropica 87:43–51.

85. Foster JC, Glass MD, Courtney PD, and Ward LA. 2003. Effect of Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium on *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocyst viability. Food Microbiol 20:351–357.

86. Foti C, Nettis E, Cassano N, Di Mundo I, and Vena GA. 2002. Acute allergic reactions to *Anisakis simplex* after ingestion of anchovies. Acta Dermato-Venereologica 82:121–123.

87. Fox KR and Lytle DA. 1996. Milwaukees crypto outbreak — investigation and recommendations. J Am Water Works Assn 88:87–94.

88. Freire-Santos F, Gomez-Couso H, Ortega-Inarrea MR, Castro-Hermida JA, Oteiza-Lopez AM, Garcia-Martin O, and Ares-Mazas ME. 2002. Survival of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts recovered from experimentally contaminated oysters (*Ostrea edulis*) and clams (*Tapes decussatus*). Parasitol Res 88:130–133.

89. Friedman DE, Patten KA, Rose JB, and Barney MC. 1997. The potential for *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocyst survival in beverages associated with contaminated tap water. J Food Safety 17:125–132.

90. Fryauff DJ, Krippner R, Prodjodipuro P, Ewald C, Kawengian S, Pegelow K, Yun T, von Heydwolff-Wehnert C, Oyofo B, and Gross R. 1999. *Cyclospora cayetanensis* among expatriate and indigenous populations of West Java, Indonesia. Emerg Infect Dis 5:585–588.

91. Fujino T, Matsui T, Kobayashi F, Haruki K, Yoshino Y, Kajima J, and Tsuji M. 2002. The effect of heating against *Cryptosporidium* oocysts. J Vet Med Sci 64:199–200.

92. Gamble HR, Solomon MB, and Long JB. 1998. Effects of hydrodynamic pressure on the viability of *Trichinella spiralis* in pork. J Food Prot 61:637–639.

93. Garcia HH, Evans CAW, Nash TE, Takayanagui OM, White AC, Botero D, Rajshekhar V, Tsang VCW, Schantz PM, Allan JC, Flisser A, Correa D, Sarti E, Friedland JS, Martinez SM, Gonzalez AE, Gilman RH, and Del Brutto OH. 2002. Current consensus guidelines for treatment of neurocysticercosis. Clin Microbiol Rev 15:747–756.

94. Garcia HH, Gilman RH, Gonzalez AE, Verastegui M, Rodriguez S, Gavidia C, Tsang VCW, Falcon N, Lescano AG, Moulton LH, Bernal T, and Tovar M. 2003. Hyper-

endemic human and porcine *Taenia solium* infection in Peru. Am J Trop Med Hyg 68(3):268–275.

95. Gardiner MA. 1990. Survival of *Anisakis* in cold smoked salmon. Can Inst Food Sci Technol J 23: 143–144.

96. Garrido-Gonzalez E, Zurabian R, and Acuna-Soto R. 2002. Cyst production and transmission of *Entamoeba* and *Endolimax*. Trans Royal Soc Med Hyg 96:119–123.

97. Geerts S, De Borchgrave J, Brandt J, and Kumar V. 1993. Susceptibility of Taenia saginata metacestodes to gamma irradiation and shelf-life extension of the treated meat. Proc. final research co-ordination meeting on *Use of Irradiation to Control Infectivity of Food-borne Parasites*, Mexico City 24–28 June 1991. Vienna: IAEA, pp. 49–55.

98. Gentile JM, Gentile GJ, Nannenga B, Johnson M, Blankespoor H, and Montero R. 1998. Enhanced liver cell mutations in trematode-infected Big Blue(r) transgenic mice. Mut Res 400:355–360.

99. Glaberman S, Moore JE, Lowery CJ, Chalmers RM, Sulaiman I, Elwin K, Rooney PJ, Millar BC, Dooley JSG, Lal AA, and Xiao LH. 2002. Three drinking-waterassociated cryptosporidiosis outbreaks, Northern Ireland. Emerg Infect Dis 8:631–633.

100. Gofti-Laroche L, Demanse D, Joret JC, and Zmirou D. 2003. Health risks and parasitical quality of water. Journal American Water Works Association 95:162–172.

101. Goldstein ST, Juranek DD, Ravenholt O, Hightower AW, Martin DG, Mesnik JL, Griffiths SD, Bryant AJ, Reich RR, and Herwaldt BL. 1996. Cryptosporidiosis — an outbreak associated with drinking water despite state-of-the-art water treatment. Ann Int Med 124:459–468.

102. Gomez-Bautista M, Ortega-Mora LM, Tabares E, Lopez-Rodas V, and Costas E. 2000. Detection of infectious *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) and cockles (*Cerastoderma edule*). Appl Environ Microbiol 66:1866–1870.

103. Gomez-Couso H, Freire-Santos F, Ortega-Inarrea MR, Castro-Hermida JA, and Ares-Mazas ME. 2003. Environmental dispersal of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts and cross transmission in cultured bivalve molluscs. Parasitology Research 90:140–142.

104. Goncalves MLC, Araujo A, and Ferreira LF. 2003. Human intestinal parasites in the past: New findings and a review. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 98:103–118.

105. Gonzalez AE, Garcia HH, Gilman RH, and Tsang VCW. 2003. Control of *Taenia solium*. Acta Tropica 87:103–109.

106. Gottstein B and Reichen J. 2002. Hydatid lung disease (echinococcosis/hydatidosis). Clin Chest Med 23:397–408.

107. Graczyk TK, Fayer R, Cranfield MR, and Conn DB. 1998. Recovery of waterborne *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts by freshwater benthic clams (*Corbicula fluminea*). Appl Environ Microbiol 64:427–430.

108. Graczyk TK, Gilman RH, and Fried B. 2001. Fasciolopsiasis: is it a controllable food-borne disease? Parasitol Res 87:80–83.

109. Graczyk TK, Grimes BH, Knight R, Da Silva AJ, Pieniazek NJ, and Veal DA. 2003. Detection of *Cryptosporidium parvum* and *Giardia lamblia* carried by synanthropic flies by combined fluorescent in situ hybridization and a monoclonal antibody. Am J Trop Med Hyg 68:228–232.

110. Greenbloom SL, Martin Smith P, Isaacs S, Marshall B, Kittle DC, Kain KC, and Keystone JS. 1997. Outbreak of trichinosis in Ontario secondary to the ingestion of wild boar meat. Can J Pub Health 88:52–56.

111. Guerrant RL, Kosek M, Moore S, Lorntz B, Brantley R, and Lima AAM. 2002. Magnitude and impact of diarrheal diseases. Archives of Medical Res 33: 351–355.

112. Guichard D, Flori P, Raberin H, Gallot B, Lang B, and Sung RTM. 2002. Four cases of *Fasciola hepatica* fascioliasis reported in Haute-Loire, France. Med Malad Infect 32:190–195.

113. Haas CN and Kaymak B. 2003. Effect of initial microbial density on inactivation of *Giardia muris* by ozone. Water Res 37(12):2980–2988.

114. Hale DC, Blumberg L, and Frean J. 2003. Case report: Gnathostomiasis in two travelers to Zambia. Am J Trop Med Hyg 68:707–709.

115. Hammond RM, Bodager D, Ward KV, and Rowan A. 2001. Case studies in foodborne illness in Florida from fresh produce. Hortscience 36:22–25.

116. Han ET, Guk SM, Kim JL, Jeong HJ, Kim SN, and Chai JY. 2003. Detection of parasite eggs from archaeological excavations in the Republic of Korea. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 98:123–126.

117. Hancock CM, Rose JB, and Callahan M. 1998. Crypto and *Giardia* in US groundwater. J Am Water Works Assoc 90:58–61.

118. Hanes DE, Worobo RW, Orlandi PA, Burr DH, Miliotis MD, Robl MG, Bier JW, Arrowood MJ, Churey JJ, and Jackson GJ. 2002. Inactivation of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in fresh apple cider by UV irradiation. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:4168–4172.

119. Haque R, Duggal P, Ali IM, Hossain MB, Mondal D, Sack RB, Farr BM, Beaty TH, and Petri WA. 2002. Innate and acquired resistance to amebiasis in Bangladeshi children. J Infect Dis 186:547–552.

120. Haque R, Huston CD, Hughes M, Houpt E,

and Petri WA. 2003. Amebiasis. New Engl J Med 348: 565–1573.

121. Harp JA, Fayer R, Pesch BA, and Jackson GJ. 1996. Effect of pasteurization on infectivity of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in water and milk. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:2866–2868.

122. Harper CM, Cowell NA, Adams BC, Langley AJ, and Wohlsen TD. 2002. Outbreak of *Cryptosporidium* linked to drinking unpasteurized milk. Commun Dis Intell 26(3):449–450.

123. Harter S, Le Bailly M, Janot F, and Bouchet F. 2003. First paleoparasitological study of an embalming rejects jar found in Saqqara, Egypt. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 98:119–121.

124. Haseeb AN, el-Shazly AM, Arafa MA, and Morsy AT. 2002. A review on fascioliasis in Egypt. J Egypt Soc Parasitol 32:317–354.

125. Hayes SL, Rice EW, Ware MW, and Schaefer FW. 2003. Low pressure ultraviolet studies for inactivation of *Giardia muris* cysts. J Appl Microbiol 94: 54–59.

126. Heath DD, Jensen O, and Lightowlers MW. 2003. Progress in control of hydatidosis using vaccination — a review of formulation and delivery of the vaccine and recommendations for practical use in control programmes. Acta Tropica 85:133–143.

127. Heitman TL, Frederick LM, Viste JR, Guselle NJ, Morgan UM, Thompson RCA, and Olson ME. 2002. Prevalence of *Giardia* and *Cryptosporidium* and characterization of *Cryptosporidium* spp. isolated from wildlife, human, and agricultural sources in the North Saskatchewan River Basin in Alberta, Canada. Can J Microbiol 48:530– 541.

128. Herwaldt BL. 2000. *Cyclospora cayetanensis*: A review, focusing on the outbreaks of cyclosporiasis in the 1990s. Clin Infect Dis 31:1040–1057.

129. Herwaldt BL and Beach MJ. 1999. The return of *Cyclospora* in 1997: Another outbreak of cyclosporiasis in North America associated with imported raspberries. Ann Int Med 130:210–220.

130. Hill D and Dubey JP. 2002. *Toxoplasma gondii*: transmission, diagnosis and prevention. Clin Microbiol Infect 8:634–640.

131. Hill M. 2003. GN tests for trichinosis infection in walrus tongues. *Nunatsiaq News*, January 31, 2003. Iqaluit, Canada.

132. Hillyer GV and Apt W. 1997. Food-borne trematode infections in the Americas. Parasitol Today 13:87– 88.

133. Ho AY, Lopez AS, Eberhart MG, Levenson R, Finkel BS, da Silva AJ, Roberts JM, Orlandi PA, Johnson CC, and Herwaldt BL. 2002. Outbreak of cyclosporiasis

associated with imported raspberries, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 2000. Emerg Infect Dis 8:783–788.

134. Hoberg EP. 2002. *Taenia* tapeworms: their biology, evolution and socioeconomic significance. Microb Infect 4:859–866.

135. Holm P and Kristoffersen EK. 2002. A Scandinavian case of domestically acquired human fascioliasis. Scand J Inf Dis 34:548–550.

136. Howe AD, Forster S, Morton S, Marshall R, Osborn KS, Wright P, and Hunter PR. 2002. *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in a water supply associated with a cryptosporidiosis outbreak. Emerg Infect Dis 8:619–624.

137. Hoxie NJ, Davis JP, Vergeront JM, Nashold RD, and Blair KA. 1997. Cryptosporidiosis-associated mortality following a massive waterborne outbreak in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Am J Pub Health 87:2032–2035.

138. Hughes AJ and Biggs BA. 2002. Parasitic worms of the central nervous system: an Australian perspective. Intern Med J 32:541–553.

139. Hughes AJ, Spithill TW, Smith RE, Boutlis CS, and Johnson PDR. 2003. Human fasciolosis acquired in an Australian urban setting. Med J Austr 178:244–245.

140. Hulbert TV, Larsen RA, and Chandrasoma PT. 1992. Abdominal angiostrongyliasis mimicking acute appendicitis and Meckel's diverticulum: Report of a case of the United States and review. Clin Infect Dis 14(4):836– 840.

141. Ito A, Putra MI, Subahar R, Sato MO, Okamoto M, Sako Y, Nakao M, Yamasaki H, Nakaya K, Craig PS, and Margono SS. 2002. Dogs as alternative intermediate hosts of *Taenia solium* in Papua (Irian Jaya), Indonesia confirmed by highly specific ELISA and immunoblot using native and recombinant antigens and mitochondrial DNA analysis. J Helminthol 76:311–314.

142. Ito A, Urbani C, Jiamin Q, Vuitton DA, Dongchuan Q, Heath DD, Craig PS, Zheng F, and Schantz PM. 2003. Control of echinococcosis and cysticercosis: a public health challenge to international cooperation in China. Acta Tropica 86:3–17.

143. Jenkins MB, Bowman DD, Fogarty EA, and Ghiorse WC. 2002. *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocyst in-activation in three soil types at various temperatures and water potentials. Soil Biol Biochem 34:1101–1109.

144. Jimenez S, Perez A, Gil H, Schantz PM, Ramalle E, and Juste RA. 2002. Progress in control of cystic echinococcosis in La Rioja, Spain: decline in infection prevalences in human and animal hosts and economic costs and benefits. Acta Tropica 83:213–221.

145. Joachim A, Eckert E, Petry F, Bialek R, and Daugschies A. 2003. Comparison of viability assays for *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts after disinfection. Vet Parasitol 111(1):47–57.

146. Joshi DD, Maharjan M, Johansen MV, Willingham AL, and Sharma M. 2003. Improving meat inspection and control in resource-poor communities: the Nepal example. Acta Tropica 87(1):119–127.

147. Junichi G. 1994. Changes of living habits related to the infection in human paragonimiasis in Japan, based on the epidemiological data. Jap J Parasitol 43:462–470.

148. Karl H, Meyer C, Banneke S, Sipos G, Bartelt E, Lagrange F, Jark U, and Feldhusen F. 2002. The abundance of nematode larvae *Anisakis* sp in the flesh of fishes and possible post-mortem migration. Arch Lebensmittelhyg 53:118–120.

149. Karl H, Roepstorff A, Huss HH, and Bloemsma B. 1995. Survival of *Anisakis* larvae in marinated herring fillets. Int J Food Sci Technol 29:661–670.

150. Kato S, Jenkins MB, Fogarty EA, and Bowman DD. 2002. Effects of freeze-thaw events on the viability of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in soil. J Parasitol 88:718–722.

151. Keegan AR, Fanok S, Monis PT, and Saint CP. 2003. Cell culture-Taqman PCR assay for evaluation of *Cryptosporidium parvum* disinfection. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:2505–2511.

152. Kern P, Bardonnet K, Renner E, Auer H, Pawlowski Z, Ammann RW, and Vuitton DA. 2003. European echinococcosis registry: Human alveolar echinococcosis, Europe, 1982–2000. Emerg Infect Dis 9:343–349.

153. Kim JH, Rennecker JL, Tomiak RB, Marinas BJ, Miltner RJ, and Owens JH. 2002. Inactivation of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in a pilot-scale ozone bubble-diffuser contactor. II: Model validation and application. J Environ Engin 128:522–532.

154. Kim SR, Maekawa Y, Matsuoka T, Imoto S, Ando K, Mita K, Kim HB, Nakajima T, Ku KS, Koterazawa T, Fukuda K, Yano Y, Nakaji M, Kudo M, Kim KI, Hirai M, and Hayashi Y. 2002. Eosionophilic pseudotumor of the liver due to *Ascaris suum* infection. Hepatol Res 23:306–314.

155. Kimura S, Takagi Y, and Gomi K. 1999. IgE response to *Anisakis* compared to seafood. Allergy 54:1225–1226.

156. Kithuka JM, Maingi N, Njeruh FM, and Ombui JN. 2002. The prevalence and economic importance of bovine fasciolosis in Kenya — an analysis of abattoir data. Onderst J Vet Res 69:255–262.

157. Kliks MM and Palumbo NE. 1992. Eosinophilic meningitis beyond the Pacific Basin: The global dispersal of a peridomestic zoonosis caused by *Angiostrongylus cantonensis*, the nematode lungworm of rats. Soc Sci Med 34(2): 199–212.

158. Kniel KE, Lindsay DS, Sumner SS, Hackney CR, Pierson MD, and Dubey JP. 2002. Examination of attach-

ment and survival of *Toxoplasma gondii* oocysts on raspberries and blueberries. J Parasitol 88:790–793.

159. KoláÍová L. 2001. Central nervous system as a target of helminth migration in humans. Helminthologia 38:237–241.

160. Kotula AW, Dubey JP, Sharar AK, Andews CD, Shen SK, and Lindsay DS. 1991. Effect of freezing on infectivity of *Toxoplasma gondii* tissue cysts in pork. J Food Prot 54:687–690.

161. Kramer MH, Greer GJ, Quinonez JF, Padilla NR, Hernandez B, Arana BA, Lorenzana R, Moreram P, Hightower AW, Eberhard ML, and Herwaldt BL. 1998. First reported outbreak of abdominal angiostrongyliasis. Clin Infect Dis 26:365–372.

162. Lane S and Lloyd D. 2002. Current trends in research into the waterborne parasite *Giardia*. Crit Rev Microbiol 28:123–147.

163. Leber AL. 2000. Intestinal amebae. Clin Lab Med 19:601–619.

164. Lee MB and Lee EH. 2001. Coccidial contamination of raspberries: Mock contamination with *Eimeria acervulina* as a model for decontamination treatment studies. J Food Prot 64:1854–1857.

165. Lee SH, Levy DA, Craun BF, Beach MJ, and Calderon BF. 2002. Surveillance for water borne disease outbreaks — United States — 1999–2000. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep Surveill Summ 51:1–28.

166. Lightowlers MW. 2003. Vaccines for prevention of cysticercosis. Acta Tropica 87(1):129–135.

167. Linden KG, Shin GA, Faubert G, Cairns W, and Sobsey MD. 2002. UV disinfection of *Giardia lamblia* cysts in water. Environ Sci Technol 36:2519–2522.

168. Lindo JF, Waugh C, Hall J, Cunningham-Myrie C, Ashley D, Eberhard ML, Sullivan JJ, Bishop HS, Robinson DG, Holtz T, and Robinson RD. 2002. Enzootic *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* in rats and snails after an outbreak of human eosinophilic meningitis, Jamaica. Emerg Infect Dis 8:324–326.

169. Lindsay DS, Blagburn BL, and Dubey JP. 2002. Survival of nonsporulated *Toxoplasma gondii* oocysts under refrigerator conditions. Vet Parasitol 103:309–313.

170. Lindsay DS, Phelps KK, Smith SA, Flick G, Sumner SS, and Dubey JP. 2001. Removal of *Toxoplasma gondii* oocysts from sea water by eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*). J Euk Microbiol 197S–198S.

171. Lo Re V and Gluckman SJ. 2002. Eosinophilic meningitis due to *Gnathostoma spinigerum*. J Infect 45:117–120.

172. Lopez AS, Dodson DR, Arrowood MJ, Orlandi PA, da Silva AJ, Bier JW, Hanauer SD, Kuster RL, Oltman S, Baldwin MS, Won KY, Nace EM, Eberhard ML, and

Herwaldt BL. 2001. Outbreak of cyclosporiasis associated with basil in Missouri in 1999. Clin Infect Dis 32:1010–1017.

173. Loreille O and Bouchet F. 2003. Evolution of ascariasis in humans and pigs: a multi-disciplinary approach. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 98:39–46.

174. Lowery CJ, Nugent P, Moore JE, Millar BC, Xiru X, and Dooley JSG. 2001. PCR-IMS detection and molecular typing of *Cryptosporidium parvum* recovered from a recreational river source and an associated mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) bed in Northern Ireland. Epidemiol Infect 127:545–553.

175. Lund BM, Baird-Parker TC, and Gould GW. 2000. *The Microbiological Safety and Quality of Food*. Aspen Publishers, Gaithersburg, MD.

176. Lundén A, Lind P, Engvall EO, Gustavsson K, Uggla A, and Vågsholm I. 2002. Serological survey of *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in pigs slaughtered in Sweden. Scand J Inf Dis 34:362–365.

177. Lundén A and Uggla A. 1992. Infectivity of *Toxoplasma gondii* in mutton following curing, smoking, freezing, or microwave cooking. Int J Food Microbiol 15:357–363.

178. Lunestad BT. 2003. Absence of nematodes in farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in Norway. J Food Prot 66:122–124.

179. Mac Kenzie WR, Hoxie NJ, Proctor ME, Gradus MS, Blair KA, Peterson DE, Kazmierczak JJ, Addiss DG, Fox KR, Rose JB, and Davis JP. 1994. A massive outbreak in Milwaukee of *Cryptosporidium* infection transmitted through the public water supply. New Engl J Med 331:161–167.

180. Macpherson CNL, Gottstein B, and Geerts S. 2000. Parasitic food-borne and water-borne zoonoses. Rev Sci Tech 19:240–258.

181. Magnaval JF, Berry A, and Nadrigny M. 2002. Anaphylactic shock revealing anisakiasis. Presse Med 31:1309–1311.

182. Mas-Coma MS, Estebab JG, and Bargues MD. 1999. Epidemiology of human fascioliasis:a review and proposed new classification. Bull WHO 77:340–346.

183. Mateus-Pinilla NE, Hannon B, and Weigel RM. 2002. A computer simulation of the prevention of the transmission of *Toxoplasma gondii* on swine farms using a feline T-gondii vaccine. Prev Vet Med 55:17–36.

184. McClelland G. 2002. The trouble with sealworms (*Pseudoterranova decipiens* species complex, Nematoda): a review. Parasitology 124:S183–S203.

185. McClelland G, Misra RK, and Martell DJ. 2000. Spatial and temporal distributions of larval sealworm (*Pseudoterranova decipiens*, Nematoda: Anisakinae), in *Hippoglossoides platessoides* (Pleuronectidae) in eastern Canada from 1980 to 1990. ICES J Marin Sci 57:69–88. 186. Mead PS, Slutsker L, Dietz V, McCaig LF, Bresee JS, Shapiro C, Griffin PM, and Tauxe RV. 1999. Food-related illness and death in the United States. Emerg Infect Dis 5:607–625.

187. Meehan AM, Virk A, Swanson K, and Poeschla EM. 2002. Severe pleuropulmonary paragonimiasis 8 years after emigration from a region of endemicity. Clin Infect Dis 35:87–90.

188. Millar BC, Finn M, Xiao LH, Lowery CJ, Dooley JSG, and Moore JE. 2002. *Cryptosporidium* in foodstuffs — an emerging aetiological route of human foodborne illness. Trends Food Sci Technol 13:168–187.

189. Millard PS, Gensheimer KF, Addiss DG, Sosin DM, Beckett GA, Houckjankoski A, and Hudson A. 1994. An outbreak of cryptosporidiosis from fresh-pressed apple cider. J Am Med Assoc 272:1592–1596.

190. Miller-Sims VC and Petri WA. 2002. Opportunities and obstacles in developing a vaccine for *Entamoeba histolytica*. Curr Opin Immunol 14: 549–552.

191. Molina-García AD and Sanz PD. 2002. *Anisakis simplex* larva killed by high-hydrostatic-pressure processing. J Food Prot 65:383–388.

192. Moore SR, Lima AAM, Conaway MR, Schorling JB, Soares AM, and Guerrant RL. 2001. Early childhood diarrhoea and helminthiases associate with long-term linear growth faltering. Int J Epidemiol 30:1457–1464.

193. Morales J, Velasco T, Tovar V, Fragoso G, Fleury A, Beltran C, Villalobos N, Aluja A, Rodarte LF, Sciutto E, and Larralde C. 2002. Castration and pregnancy of rural pigs significantly increase the prevalence of naturally acquired *Taenia solium* cysticercosis. Vet Parasitol 108:41–48.

194. Morita S, Namikoshi A, Hirata T, Oguma K, Katayama H, Ohgaki S, Motoyama N, and Fujiwara M. 2002. Efficacy of UV irradiation in inactivating *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:5387–5393.

195. Motarjemi Y. 2002. Chronic sequelae of foodborne infections, p. 501–513. *In* Blackburn C deW and McClure PJ (eds.), *Foodborne Pathogens*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

196. Nakamura-Uchiyama F, Mukae H, and Nawa Y. 2002. Paragonimiasis: a Japanese perspective. Clin Chest Med 23:409–420.

197. Nasser AM, Zaruk N, Tenenbaum L, and Netzan Y. 2003. Comparative survival of *Cryptosporidium*, coxsackievirus A9 and *Escherichia coli* in stream, brack-ish-and sea waters. Water Sci Technol 47:91–96.

198. Naumova EN, Egorov AI, Morris RD, and Griffiths JK. 2003. The elderly and waterborne *Cryptosporidium* infection: Gastroenteritis hospitalizations before and dur-

ing the 1993 Milwaukee outbreak. Emerg Infect Dis 9:418–425.

199. New D, Little MD, and Cross J. 1995. *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* infection from eating raw snails. New Engl J Med 332:1105–1106.

200. Nguekam JP, Zoli AP, Zogo PO, Kamga ACT, Speybroeck N, Dorny P, Brandt J, Losson B, and Geerts S. 2003. A seroepidemiological study of human cysticercosis in West Cameroon. Trop Med Int Health 8:144–149.

201. Nichols GL. 2000. Food-borne protozoa. Brit Med Bull 56:209–235.

202. Nichols R and Smith H. 2002. Parasites: *Cryptosporidium*, *Giardia*, and *Cyclospora* as foodborne pathogens, p. 453–478. *In* Blackburn C deW and McClure PJ (eds.), *Foodborne Pathogens*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

203. Nicoletti A, Bartoloni A, Reggio A, Bartalesi F, Roselli M, Sofia V, Chavez JR, Barahona HG, Paradisi F, Cancrini G, Tsang VCW, and Hall AJ. 2002. Epilepsy, eysticercosis, and toxocariasis — A population-based case-control study in rural Bolivia. Neurology 58:1256– 1261.

204. Nomura Y, Nagakura K, Kagei N, Tsutsumi Y, Araki K, and Sugawara M. 2000. Gnathostomiasis possibly caused by *Gnathostoma malaysiae*. Tokai J Exp Clin Med 25(1):1–6.

205. Noormahomed EV, Pividal JG, Azzouz S, Mascaro C, Delgado-Rodriguez M, and Osuna A. 2003. Seroprevalence of anti-cysticercus antibodies among the children living in the urban environs of Maputo, Mozambique. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 97:31–35.

206. Ogata K, Nawa Y, Akahane H, Camacho SPD, Lamothe-Argumedo R, and Cruz Reyes A. 1998. Short report — gnathostomiasis in Mexico. Am J Trop Med Hyg 58:316–318.

207. Okhuysen PC and Chappell CL. 2002. *Cryptosporidium* virulence determinants — are we there yet? Int J Parasitol 32:517–525.

208. Ondrasovic M, Juris P, Papajova I, Ondrasovicova O, Durecko R, and Vargova M. 2002. Lethal effect of selected disinfectants on *Ascaris suum* eggs. Helminthologia 39:205–209.

209. Ong S, Talan DA, Moran GJ, Mower W, Newdow M, Tsang VCW, and Pinner RW. 2002. Neurocysticercosis in radiographically imaged seizure patients in US emergency departments. Emerg Infect Dis 8(6):608–613.

210. Onu JE. 2001. Fasciolosis and bovine liver condemnation in Sokoto metropolitan abattoir. J Appl Anim Res 20:251–254.

211. Ooi H K, Ishii K, Inohara J, and Kamiya M. 1993. Effect of irradiation on the viability of *Angiostrongylus*

cantonensis and *A. costaricensis* infective larvae. J Helminthol 67:238–242.

212. Orlandi PA, Chu DMT, Bier JW, and Jackson GJ. 2002. Parasites and the food supply. Food Technol 56:72–81.

213. Ortega YR and Bonavia D. 2003. *Cryptosporidium, Giardia*, and *Cyclospora* in ancient Peruvians. J Parasitol 89:635–636.

214. Pai HH, Ko YC, and Chen ER. 1993. Killing effect of gamma irradiation on *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* in snails. Am J Trop Med Hyg 48:827–830.

215. Paine M, Davis S, and Brown G. 1994. Severe forms of infection with *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* acquired in Australia and Fiji. Austral New-Zealand-J Med 24:415–416.

216. Paul M. Outbreak of *Trichinella* in Poland. 2003. http://www.promedmail.org; archive number 20030302.0526

217. Pecquet C, Danis M, and Leynadier F. 2002. *Anisakis simplex* and immediate hypersensitivity reactions. Ann Dermatol Venereol 129:303–305.

218. Peniche-Cardena A, Dominguez-Alpizar JL, Sima-Alvarez R, Argaez-Rodriguez F, Fraser A, Craig PS, and Rodriguez-Canul R. 2002. Chemotherapy of porcine cysticercosis with albendazole sulphoxide. Vet Parasitol 108:63–73.

219. Phabmixay V, Wintermeyer LA, Kiser D, Overby T, Landry S, Caplen C, Mays B, Branch L, and Miller GB Jr. 1991. *Trichinella spiralis* infection — United States, 1990. Morbid Mortal Week Rep 40:57–60.

220. Phiri IK, Dorny P, Gabriel S, Willingham AL, Speybroeck N, and Vercruysse J. 2002. The prevalence of porcine cysticercosis in eastern and southern provinces of Zambia. Vet Parasitol 108:31–39.

221. Piccolo G, Manfredi MT, Hoste L, and Vercruysse J. 1999. Anisakidae larval infection in fish fillets sold in Belgium. Vet Quart 21:66–67.

222. Podolska M and Horbowy J. 2003. Infection of Baltic herring (*Clupea harengus membras*) with *Anisakis simplex* larvae, 1992–1999: a statistical analysis using generalized linear models. ICES J Marin Sci 60:85–93.

223. Prasad KN, Chawla S, Jain D, Pandey CM, Pal L, Pradhan S, and Gupta RK. 2002. Human and porcine *Tae-nia solium* infection in rural north India. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:515–516.

224. Prociv P, Spratt DM, and Carlisle MS. 2000. Neuroangiostrongyliasis: Unresolved issues. Int J Parasitol 30(12–13):1295–1303.

225. Procop GW, Marty AM, Scheck DN, Mease DR, and Maw GM. 2000. North American paragonimiasis — A case report. Acta Cytol 44:75–80.

226. Puente S, Gárate T, Grobusch MP, Janitschke K, Bru F, Rodríguez M, and González-Lahoz JM. 2002. Two cases of imported gnathostomiasis in Spanish women. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 21:617–620.

227. Quinn K, Baldwin G, Stepak P, Thorburn K, Bartleson C, Goldoft M, Kobayashi J, and Stehr-Green P. 1998. Foodborne outbreak of cryptosporidiosis — Spokane, Washington, 1997. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 47:565–567.

228. Quiroz ES, Bern C, MacArthur JR, Xiao LH, Fletcher M, Arrowood MJ, Shay DK, Levy ME, Glass RI, and Lal A. 2000. An outbreak of cryptosporidiosis linked to a foodhandler. J Infect Dis 181:695–700.

229. Rabold JG, Hoge CW, Shlim DR, Kefford C, Rajah R, and Echeverria P. 1994. *Cyclospora* outbreak associated with chlorinated drinking water. Lancet 344:1360–1361.

230. Regan J, McVay R, McEvoy M, Gilbert J, Hughes R, Tougaw T, Parker E, Crawford W, Johnson J, Rose J, Boutros S, Belcuore T, Rains C, Munden J, Stark L, Hartwig E, Pawlowicz M, Hammond R, Windham D, and Hopkins R. 1996. Outbreak of cryptosporidiosis at a day camp — Florida — July–August 1995. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 45:442–444.

231. Reinhard K and Urban O. 2003. Diagnosing ancient diphyllobothriasis from Chinchorro mummies. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 98(Suppl 1):191–193.

232. Richardson RF, Remler BF, Katirji B, and Murad MH. 1998. Guillain-Barre syndrome after *Cyclospora* infection. Muscle Nerve 21:669–671.

233. Roberts T, Murrell KD, and Marks S. 1994. Economic losses caused by foodborne parasitic diseases. Parasitol Today 10:419–423.

234. Robertson LJ and Gjerde B. 2000. Isolation and enumeration of *Giardia* cysts, *Cryptosporidium* oocysts, and *Ascaris* eggs from fruits and vegetables. J Food Prot 63:775–778.

235. Robertson LJ, Johannessen GS, Gjerde BK, and Loncarevic S. 2002. Microbiological analysis of seed sprouts in Norway. Int J Food Microbiol 75:119–126.

236. Rodriguez-Canul R, Argaez-Rodriguez F, de la Gala DP, Villegas-Perez S, Fraser A, Craig PS, Cob-Galera L, and Dominguez-Alpizar JL. 2002. *Taenia solium* metacestode viability in infected pork after preparation with salt pickling or cooking methods common in Yucatan, Mexico. J Food Prot 65:666–669.

237. Roefer PA, Monscvitz JT, and Rexing DJ. 1996. The Las Vegas cryptosporidiosis outbreak. J Am Water Works Assn 88:95–106.

238. Roig GVG. 2002. Hepatic fascioliasis in the Americas: a new challenge for therapeutic endoscopy. Gastroint Endoscop 56:315–317.

239. Rojas-Molina N, Pedraza-Sanchez S, Torres-Bibiano B, Meza-Martinez H, and Escobar-Gutierrez A. 2000. Gnathostomosis, an emerging foodborne zoonotic disease in Acapulco, Mexico. Emerg Infect Dis 5:264–266.

240. Rose JB, Huffman DE, and Gennaccaro A. 2002. Risk and control of waterborne cryptosporidiosis. FEMS Microbiol Rev 26:113–123.

241. Rose JB and Slifko TR. 2000. *Giardia*, *Cryptosporidium*, and *Cyclospora* and their impact on foods: A review. J Food Prot 62:1059–1070.

242. Sakakibara A, Baba K, Niwa S, Yagi T, Wakayama H, Yoshida K, Kobayashi T, Yokoi T, Hara K, Itoh M, and Kimura E. 2002. Visceral larva migrans due to *Ascaris suum* which presented with eosinophilic pneumonia and multiple intra-hepatic lesions with severe eosinophil infiltration — Outbreak in a Japanese area other than Kyushu. Intern Med 41:574–579.

243. Sakanari JA and McKerrow JH. 1989. Anisakiasis. Clin Microbiol Rev 2:278–284.

244. Sarti E and Rajshekhar V. 2003. Measures for the prevention and control of *Taenia solium* taeniosis and cysticercosis. Acta Tropica 87:137–143.

245. Sasaki M, Kamiyama T, Yano T, Nakamura-Uchiyama F, and Nawa Y. 2002. Active hepatic capsulitis caused by *Paragonimus westermani* infection. Int Med 41:661–663.

246. Schuster R, Petrini JL, and Choi R. 2003. Anisakiasis of the colon presenting as bowel obstruction. American Surgeon 69:350–352.

247. Sciutto E, Fragoso G, Manoutcharian K, Gevorkian G, Rosas-Salgado G, Hernandez-Gonzalez M, Herrera-Estrella L, Cabrera-Ponce JL, Lopez-Casillas F, Gonzalez-Bonilla C, Santiago-Machuca A, Ruiz-Perez F, Sanchez J, Goldbaum F, Aluja A, and Larralde C. 2002. New approaches to improve a peptide vaccine against porcine *Taenia solium* cysticercosis. Arch Med Res 33:371–378.

248. Seimenis A. 2003. Overview of the epidemiological situation on echinococcosis in the Mediterranean region. Acta Tropica 85:191–195.

249. Shamsuzzaman SM and Hashiguchi Y. 2002. Thoracic amebiasis. Clin Chest Med 23:479–492.

250. Simpson TW. 1995. More on *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* infection. New Engl J Med 333:882.

251. Slifko TR, Raghubeer E, and Rose JB. 2000. Effect of high hydrostatic pressure on *Cryptosporidium parvum* infectivity. J Food Prot 63:1262–1267.

252. Slom TJ, Cortese MM, Gerber SI, Jones RC, Holtz TH, Lopez AS, Zambrano CH, Sufit RL, Sakolvaree Y, Chaicumpa W, Herwaldt BL, and Johnson S. 2002. An outbreak of eosinophilic meningitis caused by *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* in travelers returning from the Caribbean. New Engl J Med 346:668–675.

253. Smith JL. 1997. Long-term consequences of foodborne toxoplasmosis — effects on the unborn, the immunocompromised, the elderly, and the immunocompetent. J Food Prot 60:1595–1611.

254. Song CC, Duan YF, Shou GC, and Zhu H. 1992. Effect of cobalt-60 irradiation on the infectivity of *Paragonimus westermani* metacercariae. J Parasitol 78:869–871.

255. Song CC, Duan YF, Shou GC, and Zhu H. 1993. Studies on the use of ⁶⁰Co gamma irradiation to control infectivity of *Clonorchis sinensis* metacercariae. Proc. final research co-ordination meeting on *Use of Irradiation to Control Infectivity of Food-borne Parasites*, Mexico City 24–28 June 1991. Vienna: IAEA, pp. 89–98.

256. Sornmani S, Impand P, and Bunditsing C. 1993. Irradiation of fish to control the infectivity of the liver fluke *Opisthorchis viverrini*. Proc. final research co-ordination meeting on *Use of Irradiation to Control Infectivity of Food-borne Parasites*, Mexico City 24–28 June 1991. Vienna: IAEA, pp. 115–127.

257. Stanley SL. 2003. Amoebiasis. Lancet 361:1025–1034.

258. Sugaroon S and Wiwanitkit V. 2003. Brief communication: *Gnathostoma* infective stage larvae in swamp eels (*Fluta alba*) at a metropolitan market in Bangkok, Thailand. Ann Clin Lab Sci 33:94–96.

259. Szostakowska B, Myjak P, and Kur J. 2002. Identification of anisakid nematodes from the Southern Baltic Sea using PCR-based methods. Molec Cell Probes 16:111– 118.

260. Theis JH, Cleary M, Syvanen M, Gilson A, Swift P, Banks J, and Johnson E. 1996. DNA-confirmed *Taenia solium* cysticercosis in black bears (*Ursus americanus*) from California. Am J Trop Med Hyg 55:456–458.

261. Thurston-Enriquez JA, Watt P, Dowd SE, Enriquez J, Pepper IL, and Gerba CP. 2002. Detection of protozoan parasites and microsporidia in irrigation waters used for crop production. J Food Prot 65:378–382.

262. Torgerson PR and Budke CM. 2003. Echinococcosis — an international public health challenge. Res Vet Sci 74:191–202.

263. Torgerson PR, Karaeva RR, Corkeri N, Abdyjaparov TA, Kuttubaev OT, and Shaikenov BS. 2003. Human cystic echinococcosis in Kyrgystan: an epidemiological study. Acta Tropica 85:51–61.

264. Tsai TH, Liu YC, Wann SR, Lin WR, Lee SJ, Lin HH, Chen YS, Yen MY, and Yen CM. 2001. An outbreak of meningitis caused by *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* in Kaohsiung. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 34(1):50–56.

265. van der logt PB, Hathaway SC, and Vose DJ. 1997. Risk assessment model for human infection with the cestode *Taenia saginata*. J Food Prot 60:1110–1119.

266. Vazquez-Flores S, Ballesteros-Rodea G, Flisser A, and Schantz PM. 2001. Hygiene and restraint of pigs is associated with absence of *Taenia solium* cysticercosis in a rural community of Mexico. Sal Publ Mex 43:574–576.

267. Vélez ID, Ortega JE, and Velásquez LE. 2002. Paragonimiasis: a view from Columbia. Clin Chest Med 23:421– 431.

268. Vencz LV, Arrowood M, Hurd M, and Sobsey MD. 1997. Inactivation of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts and *Clostridium perfringens* spores by a mixedoxidant disinfectant and by free chlorine. Appl Environ Microbiol 63:1598–1601.

269. Verastegui M, Gilman RH, Gonzales A, Garcia HH, Gavidia C, Falcon N, Bernal T, Arana Y, and Tsang VCW. 2002. *Taenia solium* oncosphere antigens induce immunity in pigs against experimental cysticercosis. Vet Parasitol 108:49–62.

270. Vollbrecht A, Sokolowski D, Hollipeter W, Sigler R, Greenblatt J, Anderson DE, Tennican PJ, Gamble HR, and Zarlenga D. 1996. Outbreak of trichinellosis associated with the eating of cougar jerky — Idaho, 1995. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep 45:205–206.

271. von Gunten U. 2003. Ozonation of drinking water: Part II. Disinfection and by-product formation in presence of bromide, iodide or chlorine. Water Res 37:1469– 1487.

272. Walker M, Leddy K, and Hagar E. 2001. Effects of combined water potential and temperature stresses on *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:5526–5529.

273. Walker M, Leddy K, and Hager E. 2002. Effects of combined water potential and temperature stresses on *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts (vol 67, pg 5526, 2001). Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2093.

274. Wallis PM, Erlandsen SL, Isaacrenton JL, Olson ME, Robertson WJ, and Vankeulen H. 1996. Prevalence of

Giardia cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts and characterization of *Giardia* spp isolated from drinking water in Canada. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:2789–2797.

275. Wang CH, Diderrich V, Kliebenstein J, Patton S, Zimmerman J, Hallam A, Bush E, Faulkner C, and McCord R. 2002. *Toxoplasma gondii* levels in swine operations: differences due to technology choice and impact on costs of production. Food Control 13:103–106.

276. Warnekulasuriya MR, Johnson JD, and Holliman RE. 1998. Detection of *Toxoplasma gondii* in cured meats. Int J Food Microbiol 45:211–215.

277. Watanapa P and Watanapa WB. 2002. Liver flukeassociated cholangiocarcinoma. Brit J Surg 89:962–970.

278. Weir SC, Pokorny NJ, Carreno RA, Trevors JT, and Lee H. 2002. Efficacy of common laboratory disinfectants on the infectivity of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in cell culture. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2576–2579.

279. Wharton DA and Aalders O. 2002. The response of *Anisakis* larvae to freezing. J Helminthol 76:363–368.

280. Widmer G, Clancy T, Ward HD, Miller D, Batzer GM, Pearson CB, and Bukhari Z. 2002. Structural and biochemical alterations in *Giardia lamblia* cysts exposed to ozone. J Parasitol 88:1100–1106.

281. Wu SS, French SW, and Turner JA. 1997. Eosinophilic ileitis with perforation caused by *Angiostrongylus* (*Parastrongylus*) costaricensis. A case study and review. Arch Pathol Lab Med 121:989–991.

282. Yu JR and Park WY. 2003. The effect of gammairradiation on the viability of *Cryptosporidium parvum*. J Parasitol 89:639–642.

283. Zanini GM and Graeff TC. 2001. Inactivation of infective larvae of *Angiostrongylys costaricensis* with short time incubations in 1.5% bleach solution, vinegar or saturated cooking salt solution. Acta Tropica 78(1): 17–21.



Cryptosporidium and Cyclospora

first published November 1996 prepared by <u>M. Ellin Doyle</u>, Ph.D. Food Research Institute, UW-Madison

Cryptosporidium strikes over 400,000 people in Milwaukee! *Cyclospora* causes diarrhea in more than 1,000 residents of the USA and Canada!

Such dramatic outbreaks have enhanced our awareness of the potential for food- and waterborne microbes to affect large numbers of people in the USA. According to the latest *World Health Report*, "Almost half the world's population suffers from diseases associated with insufficient or contaminated water and is at risk from waterborne and foodborne diseases, of which diarrhoeal diseases are the most deadly" (1). As these recent outbreaks demonstrated, the USA is not an island and our citizens are also vulnerable to food- and waterborne pathogens.

What are these unfamiliar organisms and where have they come from? Parasitic protozoa are not common in developed countries. Few people, even in the medical establishment, knew much about *Cyclospora* and *Cryptosporidium* until recently. At one time it was thought that *Cyclospora* was a blue-green alga because it appeared to share some structural and chemical features with this group of prokaryotes. Later observations revealed that *Cyclospora* is a eukaryotic organism related to the coccidian parasites *Cryptosporidium* and *Isospora* and more distantly related to the microsporidia *Septata* and *Enterocytozoon*. Although some of these protozoa were isolated long ago from a variety of animal hosts and a few were known to cause human diarrhea in some tropical countries, it has only been during the past few decades, with the increase in numbers of immunocompromised persons (transplant patients, those undergoing chemotherapy, and AIDS victims) that they have become widely recognized as significant causes of human diarrhea. As recent outbreaks have demonstrated, however, immunocompetent individuals are also at risk for infection.

All of these protozoa have a similar life cycle and are likely disseminated by some variation of the fecal–oral route, possibly involving contaminated water and food (2). When the oocysts (infectious stages) of *Cryptosporidium*, *Cyclospora*, and *Isospora* are ingested by an individual, they pass to the small intestine where they excyst, releasing sporozoites. These cells invade the enterocytes (epithelial cells lining the small intestine) and undergo a cycle of asexual reproduction to form merozoites. When the merozoites are released from the enterocytes, they disperse to infect other intestinal cells. There may be one or many cycles of this type of asexual reproduction and then a cycle of sexual reproduction producing gametes. Fertilization results in the formation of oocysts, which are then passed out with the feces. In some protozoa, such as *Cryptosporidium*, the oocysts are immediately infective to another host while in others, e.g. *Cyclospora* and *Isospora*, the oocysts must mature for several days or longer before becoming infective.

Infectious stages of *Septata* and *Enterocytozoon* are called spores. When these are ingested and reach the small intestine, the spore contents are injected directly into an enterocyte. These parasites then multiply within the host cells and carry on many cycles of asexual reproduction. Eventually spores are passed out with the feces and are ready to infect another host (*3*).

Depending on the age and immune status of the host, the number of spores or oocysts ingested, and the pathogenicity of the parasites, these protozoa can cause asymptomatic infections, a self-limited diarrhea (usually lasting about 2 or 3 weeks), or a prolonged, severe diarrheal illness which may persist for months. Experiments with healthy human

APPENDIX

volunteers demonstrated that a dose of only 30 *Cryptosporidium* oocysts was sufficient to induce an infection in some persons, although some others who received higher doses did not develop infections (4). It has been hypothesized that invasion of the intestinal cells stimulates the release of cytokines which activate phagocytes. These cells then release soluble factors which increase intestinal secretions of chloride and water, thereby causing symptoms of diarrhea. *Cryptosporidium* is the best studied of this group of parasites, but some fundamental questions concerning its pathogenicity remain, such as the possible production of an enterotoxin. Although the small intestine is the main site of infection, in some heavily parasitized patients, especially in the immunocompromised, the colon and liver may be also be affected. Dissemination to other parts of the body has only been observed regularly with *Septata*.

Surveys to determine the prevalence of oocysts in stool samples generally report a higher incidence of infection in persons from Asia, Latin America, and Africa than in those from Europe and North America. *Cryptosporidium* probably causes the greatest percentage of cases of diarrhea associated with these protozoa and has been linked to outbreaks involving contaminated water in the USA (5-7) and England (8) and to outbreaks involving contaminated food and drink (9,10) as well as to cases of acute childhood diarrhea in developing countries, traveller's diarrhea, and chronic diarrhea in AIDS patients. Although only a small number of adults in developed countries have detectable oocysts in their stool specimens, antibodies to *Cryptosporidium* have been detected in 32–58% of population samples in Western countries (1). Therefore, many people in these countries have been exposed to this parasite during their lifetime. The other protozoa have been reported to cause diarrhea, at a lower frequency, in the same groups of people. All of these organisms are frequent causes of diarrhea in AIDS patients. In such patients with chronic diarrhea, 10-20% are infected with *Cryptosporidium* and 6-50% are infected with *Septata* or *Enterocytozoon. Isospora* infects approximately 15% of Haitian patients with AIDS but only about 0.2% of U.S. patients. This probably reflects a higher prevalence of isosporiasis in the general population in Haiti as compared to the USA (1).

Since the infective stages of these protozoa are present (at concentrations as high as 1,000,000/gram) in feces, some type of fecal contamination is responsible for new cases of diarrhea. Person-to-person transfer may occur in families and institutional settings such as daycare facilities. In a 1995 outbreak in Minnesota, chicken salad was apparently contaminated with *Cryptosporidium* by a food handler who operated a home daycare and had recently changed an infant's diaper. Although the infant was asymptomatic and the woman had washed her hands before preparing the salad, enough oocysts were transferred to the food to cause illness in more than half of the estimated 50 persons attending a social function (*10*).

Water contaminated with oocysts (probably originating from animals) was responsible for the massive outbreak of cryptosporidiosis in Milwaukee (5) and for smaller outbreaks affecting 70–100 people in Nevada (6) and Florida (7) and for an outbreak of cyclosporiasis in Chicago (11). Cryptosporidium oocysts have also been isolated from cider made from apples which had fallen on the ground in a cow pasture (9) and from raw vegetables in Costa Rica (12). Cyclospora oocysts (of unknown origin) on fresh berries were apparently responsible for an outbreak of diarrhea in Florida in 1995, and Cyclospora on raspberries imported from Guatemala was implicated in the 1996 outbreak in the USA and Canada (13,14). However, current methodology was not sensitive enough to detect oocysts on fresh fruit associated with these outbreaks. A variety of analytical approaches have resulted in the development of several different assays for the detection of Cryptosporidium oocysts in water (15), and a PCR assay that can detect as few as 1–10 Cryptosporidium oocysts in 10 mL of milk has been devised (16). Efforts are underway to modify these assays so that low concentrations of Cryptosporidium and Cyclospora oocysts can be detected in foods.

Cryptosporidium is notorious for its lack of host specificity, with most isolates from mammals capable of infecting many different mammalian species. In fact, a number of waterborne outbreaks of cryptosporidiosis in developed countries have resulted from contamination of drinking water sources with runoff from agricultural lands where infected cattle have grazed. Animal reservoirs are not well known for other parasitic protozoa. *Cyclospora* oocysts, identical to those observed in human samples, have been isolated from fecal samples from baboons and chimpanzees in Africa (*17*). In addition, the investigation of the Chicago *Cyclospora* outbreak indicated that rodent or bird feces may have contaminated the drinking water supply for a dormitory. No cross connections between water and sewage pipes in the building were detected. But the drinking water, stored in a rooftop tank, was not adequately protected from the environment, and animal feces were observed on the rim of the tank. *Cyclospora* has also been isolated from stool specimens from members of a Peruvian family with diarrhea and from ducks bred by the family (*18*). Although it is not clear that all of these *Cyclospora* isolates are the same species, the zoonotic transmission of *Cyclospora* is a

APPENDIX

distinct possibility.

High temperatures are known to be lethal to these protozoa and therefore boiled water and adequately heat-processed foods should be safe to consume. Recent experiments evaluating the efficacy of high-temperature–short-time pasteurization treatments demonstrated that heating to 71.7° C for 5, 10, or 15 seconds was sufficient to destroy the infectivity of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts suspended in water or milk (*19*). However, oocysts are more resistant to cold and freezing temperatures (*20*). Oocysts suspended in water retained their infectivity after 168 hours storage at +5°C and at –10°C. At colder temperatures, infectivity was destroyed: at –15, –20, and –70°C, no infective cells remained after 168, 24, and 1 hour of storage, respectively. *Cryptosporidium* oocysts are also notoriously resistant to chlorination, as seen in outbreaks involving chlorinated drinking water. Laboratory experiments demonstrated that oocysts suspended for up to 2 hours in 1.31, 2.63, or 5.25% aqueous sodium hypochlorite were still infective to mice (*21*).

As these data demonstrate, it is possible to eliminate *Cryptosporidium* and probably other oocyst- and spore-forming protozoa from food and water with appropriate conditions of heat and freezing. However, viable oocysts and spores persist in contaminated foods that are eaten fresh, such as fruits and salad ingredients, and in contaminated drinking water. Chlorination will not destroy the oocysts in water, and filtration systems may have an inadequate pore size to exclude oocysts or may become clogged or overwhelmed during certain seasons, such as spring, when snow melts and rains may be heavy. Although much research has been devoted to *Cryptosporidium*, methods for its control and elimination are not yet adequate. Further research is also necessary to refine methods for the detection of the other protozoa and to determine conditions necessary to destroy their spores and oocysts.

References

1. WHO. The World Health Report 1996. Internet web site: http://www.who.ch/whr/1996/whr-e.htm (1996).

2. Goodgame, R.W. Understanding intestinal spore-forming protozoa: cryptosporidia, microsporidia, *Isospora*, and *Cyclospora*. Ann. Intern. Med. 124:429–441 (1996).

3. Flynn, P.M. Emerging diarrheal pathogens: Cryptosporidium parvum, Cyclospora species, and microsporidia. Pediatr. Ann. 25:480,487 (1996).

4. DuPont, H.L., C.L. Chappell, C. R. Sterling, P.C. Okhuysen, J.B. Rose, and W. Jakubowski. The infectivity of *Cryptosporidium parvum* in healthy volunteers. *New Engl. J. Med.* 332:855–859 (1995).

5. MacKenzie, W.R., N.J. Hoxie, M.E. Proctor, M.S. Gradus, K.A. Blair, D.E. Peterson, J.J. Kazmierczak, D.G. Addiss, K.R. Fox, J.B. Rose, and J.P. Davis. A massive outbreak in Milwaukee of *Cryptosporidium* infection transmitted through the public water supply. *New Engl. J. Med.* 331:161–167 (1994).

6. Goldstein, S.T., D.D. Juranek, O. Ravenholt, A.W. Hightower, D.G. Martin, J.L. Mesnik, S.D. Griffiths, A.J. Bryant, R.R. Reich, and B.L. Herwaldt. Cryptosporidiosis: an outbreak associated with drinking water despite state-of-the-art water treatment. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 124:459–468 (1996).

7. Regan, J., R. McVay, M. McEvoy, J. Gilbert, R. Hughes, T. Tougaw, E. Parker, W. Crawford, J. Johnson, J. Rose, S. Boutros. S. Roush, T. Belcuore, C. Rains, J. Munden, L. Stark, E. Hartwig, M. Pawlowicz, R. Hammond, and R. Hopkins. Outbreak of cryptosporidiosis at a day camp—Florida, July–August 1995. *Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep.* 45:442–444 (1996).

8. PHLS Communicable Disease Surveillance Centre. Surveillance of waterborne disease and water quality: January to June 1996. *Commun. Dis. Rep.* 6:301–302 (1996).

9. Millard, P.S., K.F. Genscheimer, D.G. Addiss, D.M. Sosin, G.A. Beckett, A. Houck-Jankoski, and A. Hudson. An outbreak of cryptosporidiosis from fresh-pressed apple cider. *JAMA* 272:1592–1596 (1994).

10. Besser-Wiek, J.W., J. Forfang, C.W. Hedberg, J.A. Korlath, M.T. Osterholm, C.R. Sterling, and L. Garcia. Foodborne outbreak of diarrheal illness associated with *Cryptosporidium parvum*—Minnesota, 1995. *Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep.* 45:783–784 (1996).

11. Huang, P., J.T. Weber, D.S. Sosin, P.M. Griffin, E.G. Long, J.J. Murphy, F. Kocka, C. Peters, and C. Kallick. The first reported outbreak of diarrheal illness associated with *Cyclospora* in the United States. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 123:409–414 (1995).

APPENDIX

12. Monge, R., and M. Chinchilla. Presence of Cryptosporidium oocysts in fresh vegetables. J. Food Prot. 59:202-203 (1996).

13. Chambers, J., S. Somerfeldt, L. Mackey, S. Nichols, R. Ball, D. Roberts, N. Dufford, A. Reddick, and J. Gibson. Outbreaks of *Cyclospora* cayetanensis infection—United States, 1996. *Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep.* 45:549–551 (1996).

14. Health Protection Branch, Health Canada, J. Hoffman, Z. Liu, C. Genese, G. Wolf, W. Manley, K. Pilot, E. Dalley, and L. Finelli. Update: Outbreaks of *Cyclospora cayetanensis* infection—United States and Canada, 1996. *Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep.* 45:611–613 (1996).

15. Jakubowski, W., S. Boutros, W. Faber, R. Fayer, W. Ghiorse, M. LeChevallier, J. Rose, S. Schaub, A. Singh, and M. Stewart. Environmental methods for *Cryptosporidium*. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 88(9):107–121 (1996).

16. Laberge, I., A. Ibrahim, J. R. Barta, and M. W. Griffiths. Detection of *Cryptosporidium parvum* in raw milk by PCR and oligonucleotide probe hybridization. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62:3259–3264 (1996).

17. Smith, H.V., C.A. Paton, R.W.A. Girdwood, and M.M.A. Mtambo. *Cyclospora* in non-human primates in Gombe, Tanzania. *Vet. Rec.* 138:528 (1996).

18. Zerpa, R., N. Uchima, and L. Huicho. *Cyclospora cayetanensis* associated with watery diarrhea in Peruvian patients. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 98:325–329 (1995).

19. Harp, J.A., R. Fayer, B.A. Pesch, and G.J. Jackson. Effect of pasteurization on infectivity of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in water and milk. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62:2866–2868 (1996).

20. Fayer, R, and T. Nerad. Effects of low temperatures on viability of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62:1431–1433 (1996).

21. Fayer, R. Effect of sodium hypochlorite exposure on infectivity of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts for neonatal BALB/c mice. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61:844–846 (1995).

return to top



Copyright © 1998 Food Research Institute Last modified: 10 June 1998

University of Wisconsin-Madison